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PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                           CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                   (AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT SHARE AMOUNTS) 
 
 
 
                                                    JUNE 30,        DECEMBER 31, 
                                                      1998              1997 
                                                    ---------         --------- 
                                                                 
ASSETS: 
 
Real estate, at cost: 
     Land                                           $  62,964         $  45,571 
     Buildings, leaseholds and improvements           167,804           123,612 
     Capitalized expenses and predevelopment 
         costs                                         54,373            47,163 
                                                    ---------         --------- 
              Total                                   285,141           216,346 
     Less accumulated depreciation and 
         amortization                                 (54,953)          (35,224) 
                                                    ---------         --------- 
                                                      230,188           181,122 
 
     Investment in unconsolidated joint 
         venture                                           --            10,611 
                                                    ---------         --------- 
     Real estate, net                                 230,188           191,733 
 
Cash and cash equivalents                              21,014             2,691 
Restricted cash                                        12,264             1,872 
Receivable arising from condemnation 
     proceedings                                           --            14,700 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for 
     doubtful accounts of $358 and $147                 3,574             1,064 
Receivable arising from the straight-lining 
     of rents, net                                     10,528             7,805 
Deferred lease and other expenses                      28,984            12,443 
Deferred debt expense                                   2,906               783 
Other assets                                            3,102             1,983 
                                                    ---------         --------- 
 
TOTAL ASSETS                                        $ 312,560         $ 235,074 
                                                    =========         ========= 
 
 
 
 
                                                 JUNE 30,        DECEMBER 31, 
                                                   1998              1997 
                                                ---------         --------- 
                                                             
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' 
     EQUITY: 
 
Debt                                            $ 262,405         $ 208,087 
Amounts due to Vornado Realty Trust and 
     its affiliate                                  6,184             6,888 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities           11,075             4,174 
Other liabilities                                  17,229             2,296 
Minority interest                                     600               600 
                                                ---------         --------- 
 
     TOTAL LIABILITIES                            297,493           222,045 
                                                ---------         --------- 
 
Commitments and contingencies 
 
Stockholders' Equity: 
 
Common stock; $1.00 par value per share; 
     authorized 10,000,000 shares; 
     issued 5,173,450                               5,174             5,174 
Additional capital                                 24,843            24,843 
Deficit                                           (13,990)          (16,028) 
                                                ---------         --------- 
                                                   16,027            13,989 
Less treasury shares, 172,600 shares 
     at cost                                         (960)             (960) 
                                                ---------         --------- 
     Total stockholders' equity                    15,067            13,029 
                                                ---------         --------- 
 
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' 
     EQUITY                                     $ 312,560         $ 235,074 
                                                =========         ========= 
 
 
                 See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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                                                          ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                                          AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                                                CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
(amounts in thousands except per share amounts) 
                                                                       FOR THE THREE MONTHS                 FOR THE SIX MONTHS 
                                                                               ENDED                               ENDED 
                                                                     JUNE 30,          JUNE 30,          JUNE 30,          JUNE 30, 
                                                                       1998              1997              1998              1997 
                                                                     --------          --------          --------          -------- 
                                                                                                                
Revenues: 
    Property rentals                                                 $  6,720          $  4,630          $ 12,351          $  8,850 
    Expense reimbursements                                              1,612               803             2,610             1,294 
    Equity in income of unconsolidated 
       joint venture                                                    1,141             1,328             2,519             2,615 
                                                                     --------          --------          --------          -------- 
Total revenues                                                          9,473             6,761            17,480            12,759 
                                                                     --------          --------          --------          -------- 
 
Expenses: 
    Operating (including management fee to Vornado 
       of $210 and $420 each for the three and six 
        months ended in 1998 and 1997, respectively)                    2,993             2,265             5,013             3,877 
    General and administrative (including 
       management fee to Vornado of $540 and $1,080 
       each for the three and six months ended in 1998 
        and 1997, respectively)                                         1,371             1,032             2,237             2,013 
    Depreciation and amortization                                         893               582             1,691             1,153 
                                                                     --------          --------          --------          -------- 
Total expenses                                                          5,257             3,879             8,941             7,043 
                                                                     --------          --------          --------          -------- 
 
Operating income                                                        4,216             2,882             8,539             5,716 
 
Interest and debt expense 
    (including interest on loan from Vornado)                          (3,260)           (3,311)           (6,925)           (6,605)
Interest and other income, net                                            160               612               424               864 
                                                                     --------          --------          --------          -------- 
 
Net income (loss)                                                    $  1,116          $    183          $  2,038          $    (25)
                                                                     ========          ========          ========          ======== 
 
Net income (loss) per share - basic                                  $    .22          $    .04          $    .41          $   (.01)
                                                                     ========          ========          ========          ======== 
 
Net income (loss) per share - diluted                                $    .22          $    .04          $    .40          $   (.01)
                                                                     ========          ========          ========          ======== 
 
 
 
                 See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
(amounts in thousands) 
 
 
 
                                                                       FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 
                                                                       ------------------------ 
                                                                      JUNE 30,          JUNE 30, 
                                                                        1998             1997 
                                                                      --------         -------- 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
                                                                                  
  Net income (loss)                                                   $  2,038         $    (25) 
  Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net 
    cash provided by (used in) operating activities: 
      Depreciation and amortization 
        (including debt issuance costs)                                  2,290            2,069 
      Straight-lining of rental income                                  (2,723)            (413) 
  Change in assets and liabilities: 
      Accounts receivable                                               (1,548)            (327) 
      (Investment) distributions in excess of equity in income 
        of unconsolidated joint venture                                   (386)           1,660 
      Amounts due to Vornado Realty Trust and its affiliate               (704)          (1,090) 
      Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                           1,018             (321) 
      Other liabilities                                                    (67)            (283) 
      Other                                                                114             (956) 
                                                                      --------         -------- 
 
 
Net cash provided by operating activities                                   32              314 
                                                                      --------         -------- 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
  Acquisition of Kings Plaza Mall                                      (28,000)              -- 
  Additions to real estate                                              (6,711)          (8,930) 
  Collection of condemnation proceeds                                   14,700               -- 
  Cash restricted for construction and development                     (10,349)             965 
  Cash restricted for operating liabilities                                (43)             568 
                                                                      --------         -------- 
Net cash used in investing activities                                  (30,403)          (7,397) 
                                                                      --------         -------- 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
  Issuance of debt                                                      90,000           16,667 
  Debt repayments                                                      (38,584)            (661) 
  Deferred debt expense                                                 (2,722)            (199) 
                                                                      --------         -------- 
Net cash provided by financing activities                               48,694           15,807 
                                                                      --------         -------- 
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents                               18,323            8,724 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                         2,691            5,480 
                                                                      --------         -------- 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                            $ 21,014         $ 14,204 
                                                                      ========         ======== 
 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION: 
  Cash payments for interest (including capitalized 
    interest of $3,721 and $4,579)                                    $ 10,073         $ 10,268 
                                                                      ========         ======== 
 
 
                 See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
 
1.  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
      The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 1998, the Consolidated 
    Statements of Operations for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 1998 
    and 1997, and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months 
    Ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 are unaudited. In the opinion of management, 
    all adjustments (which include only normal recurring adjustments) necessary 
    to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and changes 
    in cash flows have been made. 
 
      Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in 
    financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
    accounting principles have been condensed or omitted. These condensed 
    consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the 
    financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's 1997 Annual 
    Report to Shareholders. The results of operations for the three and six 
    months ended June 30, 1998 are not necessarily indicative of the operating 
    results for the full year. 
 
 
2.   ACQUISITION OF KINGS PLAZA MALL AND RELATED FINANCING TRANSACTIONS 
 
      On June 18, 1998, the Company increased its interest in the Kings Plaza 
     Mall (the "Mall") to 100% by acquiring Federated Department Store's 
     ("Federated") 50% interest. The purchase price was approximately 
     $28,000,000, which was paid in cash. In addition, the Company has agreed to 
     pay Federated $15,000,000 to renovate its Macy's store in the Mall in 
     exchange for certain modifications to the Kings Plaza Operating Agreement. 
     The Company has accrued this liability as part of "Other liabilities" and 
     the consideration as part of "Deferred lease and other expenses" on the 
     Consolidated Balance Sheet. Prior to June 18, 1998, the Company owned a 50% 
     interest in the Mall (since it was built in 1970) and accounted for this 
     investment under the equity method. 
 
      In connection with the acquisition, the Company completed a $90,000,000 
     three-year mortgage loan with Union Bank of Switzerland. The loan is 
     collateralized by the Kings Plaza Mall and the Company's anchor store and 
     bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.25% (currently 6.91%). The proceeds from the 
     borrowing were also used to repay $34,900,000 of existing debt ($32,000,000 
     of which was due in the next year). In addition, the Company expects to 
     complete a $30,000,000 construction loan on this property with Union Bank 
     of Switzerland, of which approximately $15,000,000 will be used to 
     partially fund a renovation of the Mall, and $15,000,000 will be used to 
     pay the liability to Federated noted above. 
 
      Set forth below is the unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated 
     statements of operations for the Company for the six months ended June 30, 
     1998 and 1997 as if the acquisition of the Kings Plaza Mall and the related 
     financing transactions had occurred on January 1, 1997. 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
     (Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts) 
 
 
 
                                             PRO FORMA FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 
                                               JUNE 30,                JUNE 30, 
                                                1998                    1997 
                                           ---------------        --------------- 
                                                             
     Revenues                              $        30,600        $        24,700 
                                           ===============        =============== 
 
     Net income                            $         3,700        $         1,300 
                                           ===============        =============== 
 
     Net income per share - basic          $           .75        $           .25 
                                           ===============        =============== 
 
     Net income per share - diluted        $           .74        $           .25 
                                           ===============        =============== 
 
 
3.  RELATIONSHIP WITH VORNADO REALTY TRUST ("Vornado") 
 
      Vornado owns 29.3% of the Company's Common Stock. The Company is managed 
    by and its properties are redeveloped and leased by Vornado, pursuant to 
    agreements with a one-year term expiring in March of each year which are 
    automatically renewable. Under these agreements, the Company incurred fees 
    of $1,563,000 in each of the three month periods ended June 30, 1998 and 
    1997 and $3,126,000 in the six months ended June 30, 1998 and 1997. In 
    addition, Vornado is due $3,689,000 at June 30, 1998 under the leasing 
    agreement, subject to the payment of rents by tenants. 
 
      Vornado lent the Company $45,000,000, the subordinated tranche of a 
    $75,000,000 loan, in 1995. The loan, which had a three-year term expiring on 
    March 15, 1998, has been extended for an additional year and the interest 
    rate has been reset from 15.60% per annum to 13.87% per annum. The Company 
    incurred interest on its loan from Vornado of $1,578,000 and $1,775,000 in 
    the three months ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, of which $902,000 and 
    $1,250,000 were capitalized. Interest on the loan was $3,296,000 and 
    $3,626,000 in the six months ended June 30, 1998 and 1997, of which 
    $1,809,000 and $2,479,000 were capitalized. 
 
 
4.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
     Lexington Avenue 
 
     The Company is evaluating redevelopment plans for this site, which may 
     involve razing the existing buildings (in which case, the carrying cost of 
     approximately $15,000,000 would be written-off) and developing a large 
     multi-use building requiring capital in excess of $300,000,000 to be 
     expended. No development decisions have been finalized. 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
     Environmental Matters 
 
          In June 1997, the Kings Plaza Shopping Center (the "Center"), 
     commissioned an Environmental Study and Contamination Assessment Site 
     Investigation (the Phase II "Study") to evaluate and delineate 
     environmental conditions disclosed in a Phase I study. The results of the 
     Study indicate the presence of petroleum and other hydrocarbons in the soil 
     and groundwater. The Study recommends a remedial approach, but agreement 
     has not yet been reached with the New York State Department of 
     Environmental Conservation ("NYDEC") on the finalization of the approach. 
     The Center accrued $1,500,000 at December 31, 1997, for its estimated 
     obligation with respect to the clean up of the site, which includes costs 
     of (i) remedial investigation, (ii) feasibility study, (iii) remedial 
     design, (iv) remedial action and (v) professional fees. If the NYDEC 
     insists on a more extensive remediation approach, the Center could incur 
     additional obligations. 
 
          Such contamination may have resulted from activities of third parties; 
     however, the sources of the contamination have not been fully identified. 
     Although the Center intends to pursue all available remedies against any 
     potentially responsible third parties, there can be no assurance that such 
     parties will be identified, or if identified, whether these potentially 
     responsible third parties will be solvent. In addition, the costs 
     associated with pursuing any potentially responsible parties may be cost 
     prohibitive. The Center has not recorded an asset as of June 30, 1998 for 
     potential recoveries of environmental remediation costs from other parties. 
 
          Compliance with applicable provisions of federal, state and local laws 
     regulating the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise 
     relating to the protection of the environment have not had, and, although 
     there can be no assurance, are not expected to have, a material effect on 
     the Company's operations, earnings, competitive position or capital 
     expenditures. 
 
5.   EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
     The following table set for the computation of basic and diluted earnings 
per share: 
 
 
 
                                                             FOR THE THREE MONTHS              FOR THE SIX MONTHS 
                                                                   ENDED                              ENDED 
                                                        JUNE  30,          JUNE 30,           JUNE 30,       JUNE 30, 
                                                           1998              1997               1998          1997 
                                                         -------        --------------        -------        ------- 
                                                                                                  
     Numerator: 
       Net income (loss)                                 $ 1,116        $          183        $ 2,038        $   (25) 
                                                         =======        ==============        =======        ======= 
 
     Denominator: 
       Denominator for basic earnings per share- 
          weighted average shares                          5,001                 5,001          5,001          5,001 
       Effect of dilutive securities: 
          Employee stock options                              61                    --             65             -- 
                                                         -------        --------------        -------        ------- 
 
       Denominator for diluted earnings per share- 
          adjusted weighted average shares and 
          assumed conversions                              5,062                 5,001          5,066          5,001 
                                                         =======        ==============        =======        ======= 
 
     Net income (loss) per share - basic                 $   .22        $          .04        $   .41        $  (.01) 
                                                         =======        ==============        =======        ======= 
 
     Net income (loss) per share - diluted               $   .22        $          .04        $   .40        $  (.01) 
                                                         =======        ==============        =======        ======= 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                     MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
                  FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
         The Company's revenues, which consist of property rentals, tenant 
expense reimbursements and equity in income of unconsolidated joint venture were 
$9,473,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 1998, compared to $6,761,000 in the 
prior year's quarter, an increase of $2,712,000. Revenues were $17,480,000 for 
the six months ended June 30, 1998, compared to $12,759,000 for the prior year's 
six months, an increase of $4,721,000. 
 
         Property rentals were $6,720,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 1998, 
compared to $4,630,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of $2,090,000. 
Property rentals were $12,351,000 for the six months ended June 30, 1998, 
compared to $8,850,000 for the prior year's six months, an increase of 
$3,501,000. These increases resulted from: 
 
 
 
                                                                              FOR THE                  FOR THE 
                                                                           THREE MONTHS              SIX MONTHS 
                                                        EFFECTIVE              ENDED                    ENDED 
                                                          DATE             JUNE 30, 1998            JUNE 30, 1998 
                                                    ----------------       -------------            ------------- 
                                                                                            
      Rent from new tenants: 
         Kings Plaza Store Property                   October 1997           $1,149,000              $2,216,000 
         Rego Park I                                  March/ 
                                                      May 1997                  341,000               1,232,000 
      Acquisition of additional 50% 
         interest in the Kings Plaza Mall             June 1998                 235,000                 235,000 
      Consolidation of Kings Plaza Mall 
         Operations previously recorded on 
         the equity method                            June 1998                 235,000                 235,000 
      Caldor's rejection of its Fordham 
         Road lease                                   June 1997               (644,000)             (1,609,000) 
      Parking lot revenue (primarily from the 
           re-opening of the Lexington Avenue 
           parking lot)                                                         570,000                 829,000 
      Other                                                                     204,000                 363,000 
                                                                           ------------            ------------ 
                                                                             $2,090,000              $3,501,000 
                                                                             ==========              ========== 
 
 
         Tenant expense reimbursements were $1,612,000 in the quarter ended June 
30, 1998, compared to $803,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of 
$809,000. Tenant expense reimbursements were $2,610,000 for the six months ended 
June 30, 1998, compared to $1,294,000 for the prior year's six months, an 
increase of $1,316,000. These increases reflect (i) corresponding increases in 
operating expenses passed through to tenants as a result of leases commencing 
subsequent to March 31, 1997 at the Rego Park I property, (ii) the commencement 
of operations at the Kings Plaza Store property and (iii) the acquisition of an 
additional 50% interest in the Kings Plaza Mall and the consolidation of its 
operations after June 18, 1998. 
 
         Equity in income of unconsolidated joint venture (the Kings Plaza Mall) 
was $1,141,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 1998, compared to $1,328,000 in the 
prior year's quarter, a decrease of $187,000. Equity in income of the Kings 
Plaza Mall was $2,519,000 for the six months ended June 30, 1998, compared to 
$2,615,000 in the prior year's six months, a decrease of $96,000. Total income 
at the Kings Plaza Mall did not change significantly between 1997 and 1998. The 
decreases in equity in income of unconsolidated joint venture resulted primarily 
from the consolidation of the joint venture's operations as noted above. 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                     MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
                  FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
         Operating expenses were $2,993,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 1998, 
compared to $2,265,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of $728,000. 
Operating expenses were $5,013,000 for the six months ended June 30, 1998 , 
compared to $3,877,000 in the prior year's six months, an increase of 
$1,136,000. These increases resulted primarily from (i) real estate taxes which 
previously had been capitalized, being charged to income due to the commencement 
of operations at the Kings Plaza Store property and (ii) the acquisition of an 
additional 50% interest in the Kings Plaza Mall and the consolidation of the 
Kings Plaza Mall's operations after June 18, 1998, partially offset by (iii) a 
$667,000 charge to bad debt expense in the prior year's quarter in connection 
with Caldor's rejection of its Fordham Road lease. 
 
         General and administrative expenses were $1,371,000 in the quarter 
ended June 30, 1998, compared to $1,032,000 in the prior year's quarter, an 
increase of $339,000. General and administrative expenses were $2,237,000 for 
the six months ended June 30, 1998, compared to $2,013,000 in the prior year's 
six months, an increase of $224,000. These increases resulted primarily from 
higher professional fees. 
 
         Depreciation and amortization expense increased in 1998, compared to 
1997 as a result of the Kings Plaza Mall acquisition in June 1998 and the 
commencement of operations at the Kings Plaza Store property in October 1997. 
 
         Interest and debt expense was $3,260,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 
1998, compared to $3,311,000 in the prior year's quarter, a decrease of $51,000. 
Interest and debt expense was $6,925,000 for the six months ended June 30, 1998, 
compared to $6,605,000 in the prior year's six months, an increase of $320,000. 
These changes resulted primarily from interest allocated to the Kings Plaza 
Store property which previously had been capitalized, being charged to income in 
1998 and a decrease in amortization of debt issuance costs. 
 
         Interest and other income was $160,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 
1998, compared to $612,000 in the prior year's quarter, a decrease of $452,000. 
Interest and other income was $424,000 for the six months ended June 30, 1998, 
compared to $864,000 in the prior year's six months, a decrease of $440,000. 
These decreases resulted primarily from non-recurring items in the prior year's 
quarter. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
         In the aggregate, Alexander's current operating properties (six of its 
nine properties) do not generate sufficient cash flow to pay all of its 
expenses. The Company's three non-operating properties (Lexington Avenue, 
Paramus, and Rego Park II) are in various stages of redevelopment. As rents 
commence from a portion of the redevelopment properties, the Company expects 
that cash flow will become positive. 
 
         On June 18, 1998, the Company increased its interest in the Kings Plaza 
Mall (the "Mall") to 100% by acquiring Federated Department Store's 
("Federated") 50% interest. The purchase price was approximately $28,000,000, 
which was paid in cash. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay Federated 
$15,000,000 to renovate its Macy's store in the Mall in exchange for certain 
modifications to the Kings Plaza Operating Agreement. 
 
         In connection with the acquisition, the Company completed a $90,000,000 
three-year mortgage loan with Union Bank of Switzerland. The loan is 
collateralized by the Kings Plaza Mall and the Company's anchor store and bears 
interest at LIBOR plus 1.25% (currently 6.91%). The proceeds from the borrowing 
were also used to repay $34,900,000 of existing debt ($32,000,000 of which was 
due in the next year). In addition, the Company expects to complete a 
$30,000,000 construction loan with Union Bank of Switzerland, of which 
approximately $15,000,000 will be used in the future to partially fund a 
renovation of the Mall (estimated to cost $20,000,000 in total) and $15,000,000 
will be used to pay the liability to Federated noted above. 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                     MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
                  FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
         The Company estimates that its capital expenditure requirements for the 
redevelopment of its Paramus property, will cost approximately $90,000,000 to 
$100,000,000. Further, the Company is evaluating redevelopment plans for the 
Lexington Avenue site, which may involve razing the existing buildings (in which 
case, the carrying cost of approximately $15,000,000 would be written-off) and 
developing a large multi-use building requiring capital in excess of 
$300,000,000 to be expended. While the Company anticipates that financing will 
be available after tenants have been obtained for these redevelopment projects, 
there can be no assurance that such financing will be obtained or if obtained, 
that such financings will be on terms that are acceptable to the Company. In 
addition, it is uncertain as to when these projects will commence. 
 
         Property rentals from Caldor, which filed for relief under Chapter 11 
of the United States Bankruptcy Code in September 1995, represented 
approximately 12% and 22% of the Company's consolidated revenues for the six 
months ended June 30, 1998 and for the year ended December 31, 1997. Caldor 
rejected its Fordham Road lease effective June 6, 1997 and accordingly, no 
longer pays rent. Alexander's has filed a claim for damages based on such 
rejection. The annual base rental revenue under this lease was $3,537,000. The 
loss of property rental payments, if any, under the Caldor lease for the 
Flushing property, could have a material adverse affect on the Company's 
financial condition and results of operations. 
 
         The non-affiliated limited partners of the Seven Thirty One Limited 
partnership (the "Partnership"), a limited partnership which owns the Company's 
Lexington Avenue property, have the right to put their remaining 7.64% interest 
to the Partnership until October 3, 1998, in exchange for a five year secured 
note in the principal amount of $15,000,000, bearing annual interest at Prime 
plus 1%. 
 
         The Company estimates that the fair market values of its assets are 
substantially in excess of their historical cost and that it has additional 
borrowing capacity. Alexander's continues to evaluate its needs for capital 
which may be raised through (a) property specific or corporate borrowing, (b) 
the sale of securities and (c) asset sales. 
 
         Although there can be no assurance, the Company believes that these 
cash sources will be adequate to fund cash requirements until its operations 
generate adequate cash flow. 
 
 
    CASH FLOWS 
 
    Six Months Ended June 30, 1998 
         Cash provided by operating activities of $32,000 was comprised of (i) 
net income of $2,038,000, offset by (ii) non-cash items of $433,000, and (iii) 
the net change in operating assets and liabilities of $1,573,000. The 
adjustments for non-cash items are comprised of the effect of straight-lining of 
rental income of $2,723,000, offset by depreciation and amortization of 
$2,290,000. 
 
         Net cash used in investing activities of $30,403,000 was primarily 
comprised of (i) $28,000,000 for the acquisition of the remaining 50% interest 
in the Kings Plaza Mall, (ii) the escrowing of cash from the condemnation of a 
portion of the Paramus property ($5,341,000) and cash from the proceeds from the 
Kings Plaza Shopping Center loan ($5,008,000) which is restricted as to its use 
and (iii) capital expenditures of $6,711,000, partially offset by (iv) proceeds 
from the condemnation of a portion of the Paramus property of $14,700,000. 
 
         Net cash provided by financing activities of $48,694,000 was comprised 
of (i) proceeds from the issuance of debt on the Kings Plaza Center of 
$90,000,000, offset by (ii) repayments of debt of $38,584,000 and (iii) debt 
issuance costs of $2,722,000. 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                     MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
                  FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
 
 
Six Months Ended June 30, 1997 
 
         Cash provided by operating activities of $314,000 was comprised of 
$3,291,000 from results of operations (net loss of $25,000 offset by non-cash 
items of $3,316,000), partially offset by the net change in operating assets and 
liabilities of $2,977,000. The adjustments for non-cash items are comprised of 
(i) depreciation and amortization of $2,069,000 and (ii) equity in income of 
unconsolidated joint venture of $1,660,000, offset by the effect of 
straight-lining of rental income of $413,000. 
 
         Net cash used in investing activities of $7,397,000 was comprised of 
capital expenditures of $8,930,000, offset by the release of $1,533,000 of 
restricted cash. 
 
         Net cash provided by financing activities of $15,807,000 was comprised 
of proceeds from the issuance of debt (net of deferred debt expense) of 
$16,468,000 on the Rego Park I property, offset by repayments of debt of 
$661,000. 
 
Funds from Operations for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 
 
         Funds from operations were $838,000 in the quarter ended June 30, 1998, 
compared to $534,000 in the prior year's quarter, an increase of $304,000. Funds 
from operations were $1,401,000 in the six months ended June 30, 1998, compared 
to $67,000 in the prior year's six months, an increase of $1,334,000. The 
following table reconciles funds from operations and net income (loss): 
 
 
 
                                                     For The Three Months Ended               For The Six Months Ended 
                                                    June 30, 1998   June 30, 1997         June 30, 1998      June 30, 1997 
                                                    -------------   -------------         -------------      ------------- 
                                                                                                  
     Net income (loss)                               $1,116,000       $  183,000           $2,038,000        $  (25,000) 
     Depreciation and amortization of 
          real property                                 893,000          582,000            1,691,000         1,153,000 
     Straight-lining of property rentals 
          for rent escalations                         (883,000)          99,000           (1,781,000)         (413,000) 
     Leasing fees paid in excess 
          of expense recognized                        (497,000)        (550,000)            (987,000)       (1,080,000) 
     Proportionate share of adjustments 
          to equity in income of unconsolidated 
          joint venture to arrive at funds from 
          operations                                    209,000          220,000              440,000           432,000 
                                                    -----------      -----------         ------------      ------------ 
                                                     $  838,000       $  534,000           $1,401,000      $     67,000 
                                                     ==========       ==========           ==========      ============ 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
                     MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
                  FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
 
          Funds from operations does not represent cash generated from operating 
activities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and is 
not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash needs, which is 
disclosed in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the applicable 
periods. There are no material legal or functional restrictions on the use of 
funds from operations. Funds from operations should not be considered as an 
alternative to net income as an indicator of the Company's operating performance 
or as an alternative to cash flows as a measure of liquidity. Management 
considers funds from operations a relevant supplemental measure of operating 
performance because it provides a basis for comparison among REITs; however, 
funds from operations may not be comparable to similarly titled measures 
reported by other REITs since the Company's method of calculating funds from 
operations is different from that used by NAREIT. Funds from operations, as 
defined by NAREIT, represents net income before depreciation and amortization, 
extraordinary items and gains or losses on sales of real estate. Funds from 
operations as disclosed above has been modified to adjust for the effect of 
straight-lining of property rentals for rent escalations and leasing fee 
expenses. Below are the cash flows provided by (used in) operating, investing 
and financing activities: 
 
 
 
                                                 For The Three Months Ended             For The Six Months Ended 
                                                June 30, 1998    June 30, 1997         June 30, 1998   June 30, 1997 
                                                -------------    -------------      ----------------   ------------- 
                                                                                            
          Operating activities                 $      835,000    $    794,000       $        32,000    $     314,000 
                                               ===============   =============      ================   ============= 
 
          Investing activities                   $(35,163,000)    $(3,580,000)         $(30,403,000)    $ (7,397,000) 
                                                 =============    ============         =============    ============= 
 
          Financing activities                   $ 52,642,000    $   (364,000)         $ 48,694,000      $15,807,000 
                                                 =============   =============         =============     =========== 
 
 
 
    Year 2000 Issues 
 
         The Company is managed by Vornado Realty Trust. Vornado is continuing 
to address the Year 2000 issues. Review of the systems effecting the Company is 
progressing. During the six months ended June 30, 1998, the Company has not 
incurred substantial costs related to its Year 2000 efforts. The Company does 
not expect that the cost of modifications to its systems, if any, will have a 
material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations or 
liquidity. 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
 
 
 
        PART II.    OTHER INFORMATION 
 
              ITEM 4.    SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
                    On May 27, 1998, the Company held its annual meeting of 
                stockholders. The stockholders voted, in person or by proxy, for 
                the election of the three nominees listed in the Proxy Statement 
                to serve on the Board of Directors for a term of three years, or 
                until their respective successors are duly elected and qualify. 
                The three nominees were elected. The results of the voting are 
                shown below: 
 
 
 
                         Election of Directors 
                                                                Votes Cast 
                                                                Against or 
                      Directors           Votes Cast For         Withheld 
                ---------------------     --------------        ---------- 
                                                           
                Michael D. Fascitelli         4,153,143            1,277 
                David Mandelbaum              4,153,253            1,167 
                Richard West                  4,153,263            1,157 
 
 
 
              ITEM 6.    EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K. 
 
                  (a)      Exhibits: The following exhibits are filed with this 
                           Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 
 
                           10       Term Loan Agreement dated as of June 18, 
                                    1998 among Alexander's Kings Plaza Center, 
                                    Inc., Kings Plaza Corp., and Alexander's 
                                    Department Stores of Brooklyn, Inc., as 
                                    Borrower, Union Bank of Switzerland, as 
                                    Lender 
 
                           27       Financial Data Schedule 
 
                   (b)     Reports on Form 8-K 
 
                           None 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
 
 
                                   SIGNATURES 
 
 
 
              Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by 
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
 
 
                                                 ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
                                        ------------------------------------ 
                                                    (Registrant) 
 
 
 
Date:  August 6, 1998                           /s/ Joseph Macnow 
                                        ------------------------------------ 
                                                  JOSEPH MACNOW 
                                          Vice President - Chief Financial 
                                        Officer and Chief Accounting Officer 
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                                ALEXANDER'S, INC. 
 
                                  EXHIBIT INDEX 
 
 
 
         EXHIBIT NO. 
 
                  10       Term Loan Agreement dated as of June 18, 1998 among 
                           Alexander's Kings Plaza Center, Inc., Kings Plaza 
                           Corp., and Alexander's Department Stores of Brooklyn, 
                           Inc., as Borrower, Union Bank of Switzerland, as 
                           Lender 
 
                  27       Financial Data Schedule 
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                                   EXHIBIT 10 
 
 
 
         TERM LOAN AGREEMENT ("this Agreement") dated as of June 18, 1998 by and 
among ALEXANDER'S KINGS PLAZA CENTER, INC., a Delaware corporation, KINGS PLAZA 
CORP., a Delaware corporation and ALEXANDER'S DEPARTMENT STORES OF BROOKLYN, 
INC., a New York corporation (individually and collectively, jointly and 
severally, "Borrower"), UNION BANK OF SWITZERLAND (New York Branch) (in its 
individual capacity and not as Administrative Agent, "UBS"; UBS and each other 
lender who may become a Lender pursuant to Section 8.05, each, a "Lender" and 
collectively, "Lenders") and UBS, as Administrative Agent for Lenders (together 
with its successors in such capacity, "Administrative Agent"). 
 
         Borrower desires that Lenders extend credit as provided herein, and 
Lenders are prepared to extend such credit on the terms and conditions 
hereinafter set forth. 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and agreements 
herein contained, Borrower, Administrative Agent and Lenders hereby agree as 
follows: 
 
 
                                    ARTICLE I 
 
             PARTICULAR TERMS, DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF CONSTRUCTION 
 
                  1.01. Definitions. The following terms, as used herein, shall 
have the following meanings:  
 
"Additional Costs" -- Any costs, losses or expenses actually incurred by any 
         Lender which it reasonably determines are attributable to its making or 
         maintaining its Pro Rata Share of the Loan or any reduction in any 
         amount receivable by any Lender under the Loan or its Note. 
 
"Additional Documents" -- The documents listed in EXHIBIT H hereto. 
 
"Adjusted NOI" -- For any period, (i) Net Operating Income, adjusted as 
         described in the next to the last sentence of this definition to take 
         into account the projected contribution to Net Operating Income from 
         tenants under executed leases which have terms greater than five (5) 
         years and which are otherwise acceptable to Administrative Agent in its 
         sole discretion ("Qualifying Leases"), less (ii) the portion of the 
         amount determined pursuant to clause (i) representing lease 
         cancellation income. For purposes of computing the amount pursuant to 
         clause (i), in the event that a Qualifying Lease is executed (and, to 
         the extent Administrative Agent's approval thereof is required pursuant 
         to this Agreement, such approval is given or deemed given) with respect 
         to space in the Premises that was vacant at any time during the period 
         with respect to which Net Operating Income is being computed, the 
         tenant under such lease shall be deemed to have been in occupancy and 
         paying rent during the period of vacancy, and said amount computed 
         pursuant to clause (i) shall be adjusted upward correspondingly. In 
         addition, Net Operating Income shall be adjusted (i) to exclude free 
         rent, accrued rent with respect to tenants more than sixty (60) days in 
         arrears in the payment of 
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         rent and rent from terminated leases and (ii) to omit the straight line 
         treatment of rent. 
 
"Administrative Agent's Office" -- Administrative Agent's Office as set forth on 
         the signature page of this Agreement, or such other address in the 
         United States as Administrative Agent may designate by notice to 
         Borrower and Lenders. 
 
"Aggregate Commitment Amount" -- At any time, the sum of (i) the Principal 
         Amount plus the undisbursed amount of the Loan, plus, once the first 
         advance is made of the Building Loan or the Other Loan, (ii) the 
         aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Building Loan Notes plus 
         the undisbursed amount of the Building Loan and (iii) the aggregate 
         outstanding principal amount of the Other Notes plus the undisbursed 
         amount of the Other Loan. 
 
"Applicable Lending Office" -- For each Lender and for the portions of the 
         outstanding principal balance under its Note bearing interest at the 
         Prime Based Rate or the LIBO Based Rate, as applicable, the lending 
         office of such Lender (or of an affiliate of such Lender) designated as 
         such on the signature page hereof or in the applicable Assignment and 
         Assumption Agreement, or such other office of such Lender (or of an 
         affiliate of such Lender) as such Lender may from time to time specify 
         to Administrative Agent and Borrower as the office by which the 
         portions of the outstanding principal balance under its Note bearing 
         interest at the Prime Based Rate or the LIBO Based Rate, as applicable, 
         are to be made and maintained. 
 
"Applicable Margin" -- With respect to the Prime Based Rate, 0% per annum; and 
         with respect to the LIBO Based Rate, 1.25% per annum. 
 
"Assignee" -- Has the meaning specified in Section 8.05. 
 
"Assignment and Assumption Agreement" -- An Assignment and Assumption Agreement, 
         substantially in the form of EXHIBIT A, pursuant to which a Lender 
         assigns and an Assignee assumes rights and obligations in accordance 
         with Section 8.05. 
 
"ATC Letter" -- That certain letter from ATC Associates Inc., by David M. 
         Winslow and Kelly McKinney, to Dewey Ballantine LLP dated June 10, 
         1998, Subject: Kings Plaza Shopping Center, Brooklyn, NY, ATC Project 
         No. 43411-001, Remediation Cost Estimate Review. 
 
"Building Loan"; "Building Loan Notes"; "Building Loan Mortgage" -- A loan by 
         Lenders to Borrower for certain cost-of-improvement items with respect 
         to the Premises; the note evidencing said loan made by Borrower to 
         Lenders; the building loan mortgage, assignment of leases and rents and 
         security agreement(s) made to Administrative Agent as to secure the 
         Building Loan Notes and Borrower's other obligations in respect of the 
         Building Loan. The Building Loan Mortgage shall be a second lien on 
         Borrower's interest in the Premises (behind the lien of the Mortgage). 
 
                                       2 
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"Business Day" -- Any day on which commercial banks are not authorized or 
         required to close in New York City; or, whenever such day relates to a 
         LIBOR Amount, an Interest Period with respect to a LIBOR Amount, or 
         notice with respect to a LIBOR Amount, any such day in which Dollar 
         deposits are also carried out in the London interbank market and banks 
         are open for business in London. 
 
"Code" -- The Internal Revenue Code of 1986. 
 
"Credit  Lease" -- a Major Lease with an investment grade rated tenant, on 
         Borrower's standard form without material changes, at a market rental 
         and for a term of at least five (5) years. 
 
"Debt    Yield" -- For any calendar quarter, the ratio, expressed as a 
         percentage, as determined by Administrative Agent (which determination 
         shall be conclusive so long as made on a reasonable basis), of (i) 
         Adjusted NOI for the three (3)-month period ending with the last day of 
         such quarter, annualized (i.e., multiplied by four (4)) to (ii) the 
         Aggregate Commitment Amount as of the end of such quarter. 
 
"Default"-- Any event or circumstance which, with the giving of notice or the 
         passage of time, or both, would become an Event of Default. 
 
"Default Rate" -- Has the meaning given to such term in the Mortgage. 
 
"Dollars" and "$" -- Lawful money of the United States of America. 
 
"EHS Permits" -- Has the meaning given to such term in the Environmental 
         Agreement. 
 
"Employee Benefit Plan" -- Any employee benefit or other plan established or 
         maintained, or to which contributions have been made, by Borrower or 
         Guarantor. 
 
"Environmental Agreement" -- The Environmental Agreement of even date herewith 
         made by Borrower and Guarantor to Lenders. 
 
"Environmental, Health and Safety Laws" -- Has the meaning given to such term in 
         the Environmental Agreement. 
 
"Environmental Reports" -- The environmental reports listed on EXHIBIT E. 
 
"ERISA"  -- The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, including the 
         rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 
"ERISA   Affiliate" -- Any corporation which is a member of the same controlled 
         group of corporations (within the meaning of Section 414(b) of the 
         Code) as Borrower and/or Guarantor, or any trade or business which is 
         under common control (within the meaning of Section 414(c) of the Code) 
         with Borrower and/or Guarantor, or any organization which is required 
         to be treated as a single employer with Borrower and/or Guarantor under 
         Section 414(m) or 414(o) of the Code. 
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"Event of Default" -- Has the meaning given to such term in the Mortgage. 
 
"Federal Funds Rate" -- For any day, the rate per annum equal to the weighted 
         average of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions as 
         published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York for such day, 
         provided that (i) if such day is not a Business Day, the Federal Funds 
         Rate for such day shall be such rate on such transactions on the 
         immediately preceding Business Day as so published on the next 
         succeeding Business Day, and (ii) if no such rate is so published on 
         such next succeeding Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day 
         shall be the average of the rates quoted by three (3) Federal Funds 
         brokers to Administrative Agent on such day on such transactions. 
 
"Financial Statements" -- Statements of the assets, liabilities (direct or 
         contingent), income, expenses and cash flow of Borrower and Guarantor, 
         prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in 
         the United States of America as in effect from time to time and 
         consistently applied. 
 
"Governmental Authorities" -- The United States, the State of New York and any 
         political subdivision, agency, department, commission, board, bureau or 
         instrumentality of either of them, including any local authorities, 
         which exercises jurisdiction over Borrower, Guarantor, the Premises or 
         the Improvements. 
 
"Guarantor" -- Jointly and severally, Alexander's, Inc., a Delaware corporation, 
         and any other Person(s) who may hereafter become a guarantor of any or 
         all of Borrower's obligations in respect of the Loan. 
 
"Hazardous Materials" -- Has the meaning given to such term in the Environmental 
         Agreement. 
 
"Improvements" -- Kings Plaza Mall consisting of approximately 418,631 square 
         feet of mall store retail space and a former Alexander's store 
         containing approximately 339,000 square feet of gross leasable area 
         which is to be renovated. 
 
"Individual Loan Commitment" -- With respect to each Lender, the amount set 
         forth below opposite the name of such Lender (subject to adjustment in 
         accordance with the provisions of Section 8.05). 
 
 
 
         Lender                                   Individual Loan Commitment 
                                                        
           UBS                                            $90,000,000 
 
 
 
"Interest Period" -- The period during which interest at the LIBO Based Rate, 
         determined as provided in this Agreement, shall be applicable to the 
         LIBO Rate Request Amount in question, provided, however, that each such 
         period shall be one (1) month for the first one hundred twenty (120) 
         days following the date hereof and thereafter either one (1), two (2) 
         or three (3) months, which shall be measured from the date specified by 
         Borrower in each LIBO Rate Request for the commencement of the 
         computation of interest at the LIBO Based Rate, to the 
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      numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which such period 
      terminates (or, if there be no numerical correspondent in such month, or 
      if the date selected by Borrower for such commencement is the last 
      Business Day of a calendar month, then the last Business Day of the 
      calendar month in which such period terminates, or if the numerically 
      corresponding day is not a Business Day then the next succeeding Business 
      Day, unless such next succeeding Business Day enters a new calendar month, 
      in which case such period shall end on the next preceding Business Day) 
      and in no event shall any such period extend beyond the Maturity Date. 
 
"Law" -- Any federal, state or local law, statute, rule, regulation, ordinance, 
      order, decree, directive, requirement, code, notice of violation or rule 
      of common law, now or hereafter in effect, and in each case as amended, 
      and any judicial or administrative interpretation thereof by a 
      Governmental Authority or otherwise, including any judicial or 
      administrative order, determination, consent decree or judgment. 
 
"Lenders' Counsel" -- Dewey Ballantine LLP, 1301 Avenue of the Americas, New 
      York, New York 10019-6092. 
 
"LIBO Based Rate" -- With respect to any LIBOR Amount, the rate per annum 
      (expressed as a percentage) determined by Administrative Agent to be equal 
      to the sum of (i) the quotient of the LIBO Rate for the LIBOR Amount and 
      Interest Period in question divided by [1 minus the Reserve Requirement] 
      (rounded up to the nearest 1/100 of 1%) and (ii) the Applicable Margin. 
 
"LIBO Rate" -- The rate per annum (rounded up to the nearest 1/16 of 1%) offered 
      to the London branch of UBS by prime banks in the London interbank market 
      at approximately 11 a.m. (London time) two (2) Business Days prior to the 
      first day of the applicable Interest Period, for deposits in immediately 
      available funds, in Dollars, of amounts comparable to the LIBO Rate 
      Request Amount for the same period of time as the Interest Period selected 
      by Borrower in the LIBO Rate Request. 
 
"LIBO Rate Request" -- Borrower's telephonic notice (to be promptly confirmed in 
      writing), to be received by Administrative Agent by 12 Noon (New York 
      time) three (3) Business Days prior to the date specified in the LIBO Rate 
      Request for the commencement of the Interest Period (which specified date 
      must be a Business Day), of (a) its intention to have (i) all or any 
      portion of the Principal Amount or the outstanding principal amount under 
      the Building Loan Notes or the Other Notes which is not then the subject 
      of an Interest Period (other than an Interest Period which is terminating 
      on the Business Day specified in the notice), and/or (ii) all or any 
      portion of any advance of proceeds of the Loan, the Building Loan or the 
      Other Loan, evidenced by, respectively, the Notes, the Building Loan Notes 
      or the Other Notes, which is to be made on the Business Day specified in 
      the notice, bear interest at the LIBO Based Rate and (b) the Interest 
      Period desired by Borrower in respect of the amount specified. 
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"LIBO Rate Request Amount" -- The amount, to be specified by Borrower in each 
      LIBO Rate Request, which Borrower desires bear interest at the LIBO Based 
      Rate and which shall in no event be less than $1,000,000 and which, at 
      Administrative Agent's option, shall be an integral multiple of $100,000. 
 
"LIBOR Amount" -- Each portion of the Principal Amount or the outstanding 
      principal amount under the Building Loan Notes or the Other Notes bearing 
      interest at the LIBO Based Rate pursuant to a particular LIBO Rate 
      Request. 
 
"Loan" -- The loan in the Loan Amount evidenced by the Notes and advanced 
      pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
"Loan Amount" -- $90,000,000. 
 
"Loan Documents" -- This Agreement, the Notes, the Mortgage, the Environmental 
      Agreement, Uniform Commercial Code financing statements in respect of the 
      Mortgaged Property and any other collateral given as security for the 
      Loan, and any other documents which evidence or secure the Loan. 
 
"Major Lease" -- Any lease for space of the Improvements greater than 7,500 
      square feet. 
 
"Maturity Date" -- June 1, 2001. 
 
"Mortgage" -- The consolidated mortgage, assignment of leases and rents and 
      security agreement(s) made to Administrative Agent pursuant to a mortgage 
      consolidation and modification agreement to secure the Notes and 
      Borrower's other obligations in respect of the Loan. The Mortgage shall be 
      a first lien on Borrower's interest in the Premises. 
 
"Mortgaged Property" -- Borrower's interest in the Premises and other property 
      constituting the "Mortgaged Property", as said quoted term is defined in 
      the Mortgage. 
 
"Multiemployer Plan" -- Any plan defined as such in Section 3(37) of ERISA. 
 
"Net Cash Flow" -- For any period, Net Operating Income less interest on the 
      Loan, the Building Loan and the Other Loan, each for such period. 
 
"Net Operating Income" -- For any period, an amount, as determined by 
      Administrative Agent (which determination shall be conclusive so long as 
      made on a reasonable basis), equal to: 
 
                    (a) all actual revenues of Borrower from the operation of 
      the Premises during such period, determined in accordance with GAAP, 
      including all rental and other payments, including, without limitation, 
      base rent, additional rent, promotional revenues, percentage rent and 
      payments for common area maintenance, taxes and operating expenses; 
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      less  
                    (b) all operating expenses of Borrower in connection 
      with the Premises during such period, determined in accordance with GAAP, 
      including, without limitation, insurance premiums, real estate taxes, 
      ordinary maintenance and repair expenses, management fees (of 3.5% of the 
      sum calculated pursuant to clause (a) above) and any other operating 
      expenses, all as determined in accordance with GAAP, but excluding debt 
      service payable under the Loan, the Building Loan and the Other Loan. 
 
"Non-Delinquent Lender" -- Each Lender other than the Delinquent Lender(s). 
 
"Note"; "Notes" -- The notes, represented initially by a consolidated note 
      pursuant to a Note Consolidation and Modification Agreement of even date 
      herewith for an aggregate principal amount of $90,000,000 held by UBS, in 
      the form of EXHIBIT C; such consolidated note, as the same may hereafter 
      be amended, modified, extended, severed, assigned, substituted, renewed or 
      restated from time to time including, without limitation, any substitute 
      notes pursuant to Section 8.05, each, a "Note" and collectively, the 
      "Notes". 
 
"Other Loan"; "Other Notes"; "Other Mortgage" -- A loan by Lenders to Borrower 
      for certain non-cost-of-improvement items with respect to the Premises; 
      the note evidencing said loan made by Borrower to Lenders; the project 
      loan mortgage, assignment of leases and rents and security agreement(s) 
      made to Administrative Agent as to secure the Other Notes and Borrower's 
      other obligations in respect of the Other Loan. The Other Mortgage shall 
      be a third lien on Borrower's interest in the Premises (behind the lien of 
      the Mortgage and the Building Loan Mortgage). 
 
"Participant"; "Participation" -- Have the respective meanings specified in 
      Section 8.05. 
 
"Pension Plan" -- Any employee pension benefit plan within the meaning of 
      Section 3(2) of ERISA with respect to which Borrower, Guarantor or any 
      ERISA Affiliate at any relevant time has liability or an obligation to 
      contribute. 
 
"Person" -- An individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, joint stock 
      company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture or other entity 
      of whatever nature. 
 
"Premises" -- The land described on Schedule A to the Mortgage and located as 
      indicated on the cover hereof, upon which all or part of the Improvements 
      are located. 
 
"Premises Documents" -- Has the meaning given to such term in the Mortgage. 
 
"Prime Based Rate" -- The Applicable Margin plus the greater of (i) the Federal 
      Funds Rate plus 1/2 of 1% per annum or (ii) the prime commercial lending 
      rate as announced from time to time by Administrative Agent at 
      Administrative Agent's Office, each change in said rates to be effective 
      as of the date of such change. 
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"Principal Amount" -- At any time, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of 
      the Notes. 
 
"Pro Rata Share" -- With respect to each Lender, the ratio of such Lender's 
      Individual Loan Commitment to the Loan Amount. As of the date hereof, the 
      Lenders' respective Pro Rata Shares are as follows: 
 
         Lender                                         Pro Rata Share 
 
           UBS                                               100% 
 
"Regulation D" -- Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
      System. 
 
"Regulatory Change" -- With respect to any Lender and the charging and 
      collecting of interest at the LIBO Based Rate, any change after the date 
      hereof in United States federal, state or foreign laws or regulations 
      (including Regulation D) or the adoption or making after such date of any 
      interpretations, directives or requests applying to a class of banks 
      including such Lender under any United States federal, state or foreign 
      laws or regulations (whether or not having the force of law) by any court 
      or governmental or monetary authority charged with the interpretation or 
      administration thereof, excluding any change the effect of which is 
      reflected in a change in the LIBO Based Rate. 
 
"Remedial Action" -- Has the meaning given to such term in the Environmental 
      Agreement. 
 
"Required Lenders" -- At any time, those Lenders holding at least 66-2/3% of 
      that portion of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of those of the 
      Notes held by the Lenders. 
 
"Reserve Requirement" -- The rate at which reserves (including any marginal, 
      supplemental or emergency reserves) are actually required to be maintained 
      by any Lender or any Lender's respective Participants, if any, under 
      Regulation D against "Euro-Currency Liabilities", as such quoted term is 
      used in Regulation D. Without limiting the effect of the foregoing, the 
      Reserve Requirement shall reflect any other reserves required to be 
      maintained by any Lender or any Lender's respective Participants in the 
      Loan by reason of any Regulatory Change against (i) any category of 
      liabilities which includes deposits by reference to which the LIBO Based 
      Rate is to be determined as provided in this Agreement or (ii) any 
      category of extensions of credit or other assets which includes loans the 
      interest rate on which is determined on the basis of rates used in 
      determining the LIBO Rate. 
 
"Title Insurer" -- The issuer(s), approved by Administrative Agent, of the title 
      insurance policy or policies insuring the Mortgage. 
 
                  1.02. Rules of Construction. Except as expressly provided 
otherwise, when used in this Agreement (i) "or" is not exclusive, (ii) 
"hereunder", "herein", "hereof" 
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and the like refer to this Agreement as a whole, (iii) "Article", "Section", 
"Schedule" and "Exhibit" refer to Articles, Sections, Schedules and Exhibits of 
this Agreement, (iv) terms defined in the singular shall have a correlative 
meaning when used in the plural and vice versa, (v) a reference to a Law 
includes any amendment, modification or supplement to, or replacement of, such 
Law and (vi) a reference to a document shall mean such document as the same may 
be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with its 
terms. The cover page and the Exhibits and Schedules, if any, annexed hereto are 
incorporated as a part of this Agreement with the same effect as if set forth in 
the body hereof. Any table of contents and all captions and headings herein are 
for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation or construction 
hereof 
 
 
                                   ARTICLE II 
 
                                    THE LOAN 
 
                  2.01. Generally. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, 
and on the basis of the representations, warranties and covenants made herein 
and in the other Loan Documents, Lender will advance and Borrower will accept 
the Loan Amount, in one disbursement, upon the satisfaction of the conditions 
set forth in Section 4.01. The Loan shall be made at Lender's principal office 
or at such other place as Lender may designate, by wire transfer to an account 
of Borrower designated by it. 
 
                  2.02. Purpose. The Loan shall be made for the business purpose 
of refinancing existing indebtedness, funding to acquire partnership or 
tenant-in-common interests and other general business purposes. Borrower 
covenants and agrees that in no event shall proceeds of the Loan, or any part 
thereof, be used, directly or indirectly, for any other purpose, for any illegal 
purpose or for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of buying 
or carrying "margin stock" within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of 
Governors of the Federal Reserve System, or in connection with any hostile 
acquisition. 
 
                  2.03. Notes. The Loan shall be evidenced by the Notes, duly 
completed and executed by Borrower (one for each Lender in an amount equal to 
such Lender's Individual Loan Commitment, payable for the account of such 
Lender's Applicable Lending Office), in an aggregate principal amount equal to 
the Loan Amount. The Notes shall mature, and all outstanding principal and other 
sums thereunder shall be paid in full, on the Maturity Date, as the same may be 
accelerated or extended. 
 
                  2.04. Payments and Distributions. Borrower shall make each 
payment under this Agreement and under the Notes not later than 11:00 a.m. (New 
York time) on the date when due to Administrative Agent at Administrative 
Agent's Office in immediately available funds. Administrative Agent will 
thereafter, on the day of its receipt of each such payment, cause to be 
distributed to each Lender such Lender's appropriate share (based upon the 
respective outstanding principal amounts of the Notes and the respective rates 
of interest thereunder) of the payments of principal and interest, and its 
appropriate share of the payments of other sums, in like funds for the account 
of such Lender's Applicable Lending Office. 
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         Except to the extent provided in this Agreement, whenever any payment 
to be made under this Agreement or under the Notes is due on any day other than 
a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day, 
and such extension of time shall in such case be included in the computation of 
the payment of interest and, if applicable, fees, as the case may be. 
 
                  2.05. Interest. Borrower shall have the option, subject to the 
terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, of paying interest on the 
Principal Amount or portions thereof at the Prime Based Rate or the LIBO Based 
Rate. If Borrower desires the application of the LIBO Based Rate, it shall 
submit a LIBO Rate Request to Administrative Agent, which LIBO Rate Request 
shall be irrevocable, subject to Borrower's right to convert the rate of 
interest payable under the Notes with respect to any LIBOR Amount from the LIBO 
Based Rate to the Prime Based Rate as provided in Section 2.07. Administrative 
Agent shall, on the day of its receipt of the LIBO Rate Request from Borrower, 
notify each Lender either by telephone or by facsimile of the specified LIBOR 
Amount and the amount of the Lender's portion thereof, the Interest Period and 
date of commencement thereof, and the interest rate applicable to such LIBOR 
Amount. Each LIBO Rate Request shall be applicable to the Notes in accordance 
with the Lenders' respective Pro Rata Shares, so that, barring a conversion or 
suspension of the LIBO Based Rate by one or more, but not all, Lenders, pursuant 
to Article III, the outstanding principal amounts of each of the Notes shall 
contain segments bearing interest at the Prime Based Rate and/or LIBO Based 
Rate(s) under particular Interest Period(s), each of which segments shall 
correspond to a proportional segment of the outstanding principal amount of 
every other Note. If Borrower fails to submit a LIBO Rate Request with respect 
to a LIBOR Amount not later than 12 Noon (New York time) three (3) Business Days 
prior to the last day of the relevant Interest Period, the LIBOR Amount in 
question shall bear interest, commencing at the end of such Interest Period, at 
the Prime Based Rate. 
 
         Interest shall be computed on an actual/360-day basis (i.e., interest 
for each day during which any portion of the Principal Amount is bearing 
interest at a particular interest rate per annum shall be computed at such rate 
divided by 360). 
 
         Borrower shall pay interest on the Principal Amount to Administrative 
Agent for the account of Lenders. Interest on the Principal Amount shall be 
payable, in arrears, monthly on the first day of the first month following the 
disbursement of the proceeds of the Loan and on the first day of each month 
thereafter until the Notes are repaid in full. 
 
                  2.06. Limitation on Number of Interest Periods. Borrower shall 
not have the right to have more than five (5) Interest Periods, in the 
aggregate, in respect of the Loan, the Building Loan and the Other Loan in 
effect at any one time, whether or not any portion of the Principal Amount is 
then bearing interest at the Prime Based Rate. 
 
                  2.07. Conversions of Interest Rate. Provided there exists no 
Event of Default, Borrower shall have the right to convert, from time to time, 
the rate of interest payable under the Notes with respect to any portion of the 
Principal Amount to the LIBO Based Rate or the Prime Based Rate, subject to the 
terms of this Agreement (including, 
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without limitation, the payment of all amounts due in connection with any such 
conversion from the LIBO Based Rate on a date other than the last day of an 
applicable Interest Period) and provided that, in the case of a conversion from 
the LIBO Based Rate, the entire LIBOR Amount is the subject of the conversion. 
Conversions shall be accomplished (i) in the case of a conversion from the Prime 
Based Rate to the LIBO Based Rate, by Borrower's submission of a LIBO Rate 
Request in accordance with Section 2.05 or (ii) in the case of a conversion from 
the LIBO Based Rate to the Prime Based Rate, by Borrower's request to 
Administrative Agent by telephone (to be promptly confirmed in writing), to be 
received by Administrative Agent at least three (3) Business Days prior to the 
date specified for such conversion, specifying the LIBOR Amount with respect to 
which the interest rate is to be converted and the date of the conversion. On 
the date of its receipt of such request, Administrative Agent shall notify each 
Lender thereof either by telephone or by facsimile. 
 
                  2.08. Inapplicability of LIBO Based Rate. Any portion of the 
Principal Amount to which the LIBO Based Rate is not or cannot pursuant to the 
terms of this Agreement be applicable shall bear interest at the Prime Based 
Rate. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the entire Principal Amount 
shall, at the option of the Required Lenders, immediately and without notice to 
Borrower, bear interest at the Prime Based Rate. In addition, following the 
occurrence of such an Event of Default, Borrower shall have no right to submit a 
LIBO Rate Request with respect to any LIBOR Amount for which the current 
Interest Period is expiring. The foregoing provisions shall not be construed as 
a waiver by Lenders of their right to pursue any other remedies available to 
them under the Mortgage or any other Loan Document nor shall they be construed 
to limit in any way the application of the Default Rate as provided in the 
Mortgage. 
 
                  2.09. Late Payment Premium. Borrower shall pay to 
Administrative Agent for the account of Lenders a late payment premium in the 
amount of 4% of any payments of principal or interest under the Loan made more 
than ten (10) days after the due date thereof, which late payment premium shall 
be due with any such late payment. 
 
                  2.10. Voluntary Prepayments. Borrower may, upon at least 
fifteen (15) Business Days' notice to Administrative Agent, prepay the Principal 
Amount, in whole or part, without premium or penalty, provided that (i) any 
partial prepayment under this Section shall be in a principal amount of not less 
than $1,000,000 and an integral multiple of $100,000; (ii) prepayment of a LIBOR 
Amount other than on the last day of the applicable Interest Period shall be 
subject to the provisions of Section 3.03; and (iii) each prepayment under this 
Section shall include all interest accrued on the amount of principal prepaid 
(and all late charges and other sums that may be payable) through the date of 
prepayment. 
 
                  2.11. Amortization Payments from Cash Flow. If the Debt Yield 
for any calendar quarter shall be less than 14%, then, in addition to the 
required payments of interest on the Notes, Borrower shall, and hereby covenants 
to, make monthly payments, to be applied in reduction of principal of the Loan, 
the Building Loan or the Other Loan as Administrative Agent shall elect, until 
the requisite Debt Yield has been attained for two consecutive calendar 
quarters, as hereinafter provided. Such monthly payments shall 
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be (a) due on the 45th day immediately following the quarter for which the 
requisite Debt Yield is not attained and on the 25th day of each month after the 
end of such quarter through and including the 25th day of the last month of the 
second consecutive calendar quarter for which the Debt Yield equals or exceeds 
14% and (b) in an amount equal to Net Cash Flow for the month immediately 
preceding the month in which the payment is due. If, after the requisite Debt 
Yield shall be re-established, the Debt Yield shall again fall below 14%, 
monthly payments of principal shall again be required as described above. 
 
                  2.12. Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Account. (a) 
$3,000,000 of the Loan shall be deposited into an interest-bearing account with 
Administrative Agent (the "Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Account") to 
be available, subject to the provisions of this Section 2.12, to fund costs and 
expenses incurred during the term of this Agreement in connection with Remedial 
Action to address the Hazardous Substances identified in the ATC Letter in the 
soil/groundwater, at the locations identified in the ATC Letter ("Identified 
Hydrocarbon Remedial Action"). Provided there exists no Event of Default 
interest earned on the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Account shall be 
paid to Borrower quarterly. 
 
         (b) Costs and expenses incurred during the term of this Agreement in 
connection with Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action shall be disbursed by 
Administrative Agent, at Administrative Agent's Office, from the Identified 
Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Account within seven (7) Business Days following the 
date when all of the following conditions have been satisfied: (i) Borrower has 
delivered to Administrative Agent a current description of the Identified 
Hydrocarbon Remedial Action and the costs and expenses of performing such 
Remedial Action prepared by a qualified environmental consultant, remedial 
contractor and/or other appropriate qualified expert, (ii) Borrower has 
delivered to Administrative Agent a certification that (x) the costs and 
expenses for which Borrower seeks disbursement from the Identified Hydrocarbon 
Remedial Action Account were required to be incurred by Borrower in order to 
perform the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action and that the Identified 
Hydrocarbon Remedial Action is in compliance with applicable Environmental, 
Health and Safety Laws, and (y) the costs and expenses for which Borrower seeks 
disbursement from the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Account were 
actually incurred by Borrower in order to perform the Identified Hydrocarbon 
Remedial Action, which certification shall include supporting documentation, 
including invoices or other documentation of costs actually incurred ("Certified 
Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Amounts") and (iii) Borrower has 
delivered to Administrative Agent a mechanics' lien waiver or release of lien 
documentation with respect to the work that is the subject of the disbursement. 
 
         (c) Administrative Agent, no later than three (3) Business Days prior 
to the date a disbursement of Certified Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action 
Amounts is to be made, shall (i) notify each Lender either by telephone or by 
facsimile of the Certified Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Amount 
requested by Borrower and the proposed date of the disbursement and (ii) send to 
each Lender by facsimile the 
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Borrowers certification of the Certified Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action 
Amount, with supporting documentation. 
 
         (d) To the extent Administrative Agent determines at any time that 
amounts remaining in the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Account are 
insufficient to complete the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action in 
compliance with applicable Environmental, Health and Safety Laws, Administrative 
Agent may notify Borrower in writing of the general basis for such determination 
and the amount of the estimated insufficiency. Borrower shall have five (5) days 
from the date of such notification to respond. After the expiration of such five 
(5) day period, Administrative Agent may make a final determination as to the 
amount of the estimated insufficiency and shall provide notice thereof to 
Borrower in writing. Borrower, within fourteen (14) days following the date of 
such written notice, shall deposit the amount of such estimated insufficiency 
into the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Account. 
 
         (e) Any sums remaining in the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action 
Account shall be funded to Borrower within forty-five (45) Business Days 
following the earlier to occur of (i) delivery to Administrative Agent of 
documentation deemed adequate by it demonstrating that Borrower has no remaining 
liability or obligation relating to the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action 
or (ii) termination of the Environmental Agreement pursuant to its terms; 
provided, however, that if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing at 
such time as the terms of subsection (i) of the foregoing clause are satisfied, 
all monies in the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action Account automatically 
shall be pledged to Lenders as security for the Loan, the Building Loan and the 
Other Loan and may be applied to the reduction thereof, as Lenders shall elect, 
during the continuance of such Event of Default. 
 
                  2.13. Engineering Maintenance Account. $2,000,000 of the Loan 
shall be deposited into an interest-bearing account with Administrative Agent 
(the "Engineering Maintenance Account") to be available to fund the costs and 
expenses in connection with the repairs and maintenance set forth in EXHIBIT F 
of this Agreement (the "Identified Engineering Maintenance Action"). Borrower 
covenants to promptly commence and diligently undertake to complete the 
Identified Engineering Maintenance Action. Amounts shall be disbursed by 
Administrative Agent from the Engineering Maintenance Account for the Identified 
Engineering Maintenance Action in accordance with the same procedures for 
advances as for the Building Loan (or if the Building Loan is not in existence, 
then in accordance with Administrative Agent's standard construction lending 
practice). To the extent Administrative Agent determines at any time that 
amounts remaining in the Engineering Maintenance Account are insufficient to 
complete the Identified Engineering Maintenance Action; Borrower, promptly upon 
Administrative Agent's request, shall deposit the amount of such estimated 
insufficiency into the Engineering Maintenance Account. All monies in the 
Engineering Maintenance Account are hereby pledged to Lenders as security for 
the Loan, the Building Loan and the Other Loan. Provided no Event of Default 
exists, upon the completion of the Identified Engineering Maintenance Action, 
any sums remaining in the Engineering Maintenance Account shall be funded to 
Borrower. All monies in the Engineering Maintenance Account are hereby pledged 
to Lenders as security for the Loan, the Building Loan and 
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the Other Loan and may be applied to the reduction thereof, as Lenders shall 
elect, during the continuance of an Event of Default. Provided there exists no 
Event of Default interest earned on the Engineering Maintenance Account shall be 
paid to Borrower quarterly. 
 
                                   ARTICLE III 
 
                             YIELD MAINTENANCE ETC. 
 
                  3.01. Additional Costs and Other Effects of Regulatory 
Changes. Borrower shall pay directly to a Lender, promptly upon demand, such 
amounts as are necessary to compensate such Lender for Additional Costs 
resulting from any Regulatory Change which (i) subjects such Lender to any tax, 
duty or other charge with respect to the Loan or its Note, or changes the basis 
of taxation of any amounts payable to such Lender under the Loan or its Note 
(other than (x) taxes imposed on the overall net income of such Lender or of its 
Applicable Lending Office by the jurisdiction in which such Lender's principal 
office or such Applicable Lending Office is located or (y) a tax described in 
Section 7.13), (ii) imposes, modifies or deems applicable any reserve, special 
deposit or similar requirements relating to any extensions of credit or other 
assets of, or any deposits with or other liabilities of, such Lender, (iii) 
imposes on such Lender or, in the case of LIBOR Amounts, on the London interbank 
market, any other condition (unrelated to the basis of taxation referred to in 
paragraph (i) above) affecting the Loan or its Note, or any of such extensions 
of credit or liabilities or (iv) imposes any capital adequacy requirements on 
such Lender by virtue of the Loan or the Notes. Such Lender will notify Borrower 
(with a copy to Administrative Agent) of any event occurring after the date 
hereof which would entitle it to compensation pursuant to this paragraph as 
promptly as practicable after it obtains knowledge thereof and determines to 
request such compensation, and will designate a different Applicable Lending 
Office for those portions of the Loan affected by such event if such designation 
will avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, such compensation and will 
not, in such Lender's sole opinion, be disadvantageous to it, provided that such 
Lender shall have no obligation to so designate an Applicable Lending Office 
located in the United States. 
 
         Without limiting the effect of the immediately preceding paragraph, in 
the event that, by reason of any Regulatory Change, (i) a Lender incurs 
Additional Costs based on or measured by the excess above a specified level of 
the amount of (1) a category of deposits or other liabilities of such Lender 
which includes deposits by reference to which the LIBO Rate is determined as 
provided in this Agreement and/or (2) a category of extensions of credit or 
other assets of such Lender which includes loans the interest on which is 
determined on the basis of rates referred to in the definition of "LIBO Rate" in 
Section 1.01, (ii) a Lender becomes subject to restrictions on the amount of 
such a category of liabilities or assets which it may hold or (iii) it shall be 
unlawful or impossible for a Lender to make or maintain its Pro Rata Share of 
the Loan (or any portion thereof) at the LIBO Based Rate, then such Lender's 
obligation to make or maintain its Pro Rata Share of the Loan (or portions 
thereof) at the LIBO Based Rate (and Borrower's right to request the same) shall 
be suspended and such Lender shall give notice thereof to Borrower (with a copy 
to Administrative Agent) and, upon the giving of 
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such notice, interest payable on the affected Note shall be converted to the 
Prime Based Rate, unless such Lender may lawfully continue to maintain its Pro 
Rata Share of the Loan (or any portion thereof) then bearing interest at the 
LIBO Based Rate to the end of the current Interest Period(s), at which time the 
interest rate on the affected Note shall convert to the Prime Based Rate. If 
subsequent to any conversion to the Prime Based Rate as provided above such 
Lender determines that such Regulatory Change has ceased to be in effect, such 
Lender will so notify Borrower (with a copy to Administrative Agent), and 
Borrower may convert the rate of interest payable under the affected Note with 
respect to those portions of the Principal Amount bearing interest at the Prime 
Based Rate to the LIBO Based Rate by submitting a LIBO Rate Request in respect 
thereof and otherwise complying with the provisions of this Agreement with 
respect thereto. 
 
         Determinations by each Lender of the existence or effect of any 
Regulatory Change on its costs of making or maintaining its Pro Rata Share of 
the Loan, or portions thereof, at the LIBO Based Rate, or on amounts receivable 
by it in respect thereof, and of the additional amounts required to compensate 
such Lender in respect of Additional Costs, shall include a calculation of such 
amounts given to Borrower and shall be conclusive, so long as made on a 
reasonable basis. 
 
                  3.02. Limitations on Availability of LIBO Based Rate. Anything 
herein to the contrary notwithstanding, if, at the time of or prior to the 
determination of the LIBO Based Rate in respect of any LIBO Rate Request Amount 
as provided in this Agreement, (i) Administrative Agent determines (which 
determination shall be conclusive, so long as made on a reasonable basis) that 
by reason of circumstances affecting the London interbank market generally, 
adequate and fair means do not or will not exist for determining the LIBO Based 
Rate applicable to an Interest Period or (ii) a Lender determines (which 
determination shall be conclusive, so long as made on a reasonable basis) that 
the LIBO Rate will not accurately reflect the cost to such Lender of making or 
maintaining its Pro Rata Share of the Loan (or any portion thereof) at the LIBO 
Based Rate, then Administrative Agent, in the case of the circumstances 
described in clause (i) above, or such Lender, in the case of the circumstances 
described in clause (ii) above, shall give Borrower prompt notice thereof (with 
a copy to Administrative Agent in the case of the notice from such Lender), and 
the LIBO Rate Request Amount in question, in the case of the circumstances 
described in clause (i) above, or such Lender's portion thereof, in the case of 
the circumstances described in clause (ii) above, shall bear interest, or 
continue to bear interest, as the case may be, at the Prime Based Rate. If at 
any time subsequent to Administrative Agent's or such Lender's giving of such 
notice, Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, determines that 
because of a change in circumstances the LIBO Based Rate is again available to 
Borrower, Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, shall so 
notify Borrower (with a copy to Administrative Agent, in the case of the notice 
from such Lender) and Borrower may convert the rate of interest payable under 
the Notes or such Lender's Note, as the case may be, from the Prime Based Rate 
to the LIBO Based Rate by submitting a LIBO Rate Request in respect thereof and 
otherwise complying with the provisions of this Agreement with respect thereto. 
 
                                       15 



   16 
                  3.03. Certain Compensation. Other than in connection with a 
conversion of an affected Note pursuant to the second paragraph of Section 3.01, 
Borrower shall pay directly to a Lender, immediately upon request, which request 
shall include a calculation of the amounts due, and notwithstanding contrary 
provisions contained in the Mortgage or other Loan Documents, such amounts as 
shall, in the judgment of such Lender (which shall be conclusive so long as made 
on a reasonable basis), compensate it for any loss, cost or expense incurred by 
it as a result of (i) any payment or prepayment (under any circumstances 
whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary) of any portion of the Principal 
Amount bearing interest at the LIBO Based Rate on a date other than the last day 
of an applicable Interest Period, (ii) the conversion (for any reason 
whatsoever, whether voluntary or involuntary) of the rate of interest payable 
under such Lender's Note from the LIBO Based Rate to the Prime Based Rate with 
respect to any portion of the Principal Amount then bearing interest at the LIBO 
Based Rate on a date other than the last day of an applicable Interest Period or 
(iii) the failure of Borrower to borrow in accordance with a LIBO Rate Request 
submitted by it, which amounts shall include, without limitation, an amount 
equal to the present value (using as a discount rate the rate at which interest 
is computed pursuant to clause (y) below) of the excess, if any, of (x) the 
amount of interest (less the Applicable Margin) that would have accrued at the 
LIBO Based Rate on the amount so prepaid, converted or not borrowed, as the case 
may be, for the period from the date of occurrence to the last day of the 
applicable Interest Period over (y) the amount of interest (as reasonably 
determined in good faith by such Lender) based upon the interest rate which such 
Lender would have bid in the London interbank market for Dollar deposits, for an 
amount comparable to the amount so prepaid, converted or not borrowed, as the 
case may be, for the period from the date of occurrence to the last day of the 
applicable Interest Period. 
 
                  3.04. "Lender" to Include Participants. For purposes of this 
Article III and of the definition of "Additional Costs" in Section 1.01, the 
term "Lender" shall, at each Lender's option, be deemed to include such Lender's 
present and future Participants in the Loan to the extent of each such 
Participant's actual Additional Costs or other losses, costs or expenses payable 
pursuant to this Article III. 
 
 
                                   ARTICLE IV 
 
                              CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 
 
                  4.01. Conditions Precedent to Initial Advance. Lenders shall 
not be obligated to make the initial advance of the proceeds of the Loan until 
the following conditions shall have been satisfied: 
 
                      (a)   There shall exist no Default or Event of Default; 
 
                      (b) The representations and warranties made to 
         Administrative Agent or Lenders herein, in the Environmental Agreement, 
         in the other Loan Documents and in any other document, certificate or 
         statement executed or delivered to Administrative Agent or Lenders in 
         connection with the Loan shall be true and 
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         correct in all material respects on and as of the date of the advance 
         with the same effect as if made on such date; 
 
                      (c)    [Intentionally Deleted]; 
 
                      (d) The Improvements shall not have been materially 
         injured or damaged by fire or other casualty; 
 
                      (e) Lenders shall have received and approved each of the 
         following: 
 
                               (1) Fees and Expenses. Payment of all fees and 
                  expenses incurred by Administrative Agent (including, without 
                  limitation, the reasonable fees and expenses of Lenders' 
                  Counsel, Lenders' environmental consultant, and the preparer 
                  of the appraisal required by paragraph (4) below); 
 
                               (2) Loan Documents. This Agreement and each of 
                  the other Loan Documents, duly executed by the parties 
                  thereto, and, where applicable, duly acknowledged and in 
                  proper form for recording or filing, as the case may be, and 
                  all necessary or desirable recordings and filings shall have 
                  been duly made; 
 
                               (3) Financial Statements. Current Financial 
                  Statements and such other financial data (including, without 
                  limitation, current financial statements of tenants under 
                  leases in respect of the Premises and of parties to any of the 
                  Premises Documents, and of the guarantor(s), if any, of any 
                  such tenants or parties, but only to the extent provided to 
                  Borrower) as Administrative Agent shall require; 
 
                               (4) Appraisal and Feasibility Study. An 
                  independent M.A.I. appraisal of the Premises and Improvements 
                  complying in all respects with the standards for real estate 
                  appraisals established pursuant to the Financial Institutions 
                  Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 and, if required 
                  by Administrative Agent, a market feasibility study; 
 
                               (5) Insurance Policies. The policies of insurance 
                  required by the Mortgage, together with evidence of the 
                  payment of the premiums therefor; 
 
                               (6) Hazardous Materials Certification. A 
                  certification by IVI Environmental, Inc. which certifies that 
                  except as set forth in the Environmental Reports, IVI 
                  Environmental, Inc. has found no evidence of the past or 
                  present existence of Hazardous Materials at, on or under the 
                  Premises; 
 
                               (7) Title Policy. A paid title insurance policy 
                  (or policies), in the amount of the Mortgage, in ALTA 10-17-92 
                  (with New York endorsements) or other form approved by 
                  Lenders' Counsel, issued by the 
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                  Title Insurer, which shall be assignable to a permanent 
                  mortgagee without additional cost, shall insure the Mortgage 
                  to be a valid lien on Borrower's interest in the Premises free 
                  and clear of all defects and encumbrances except those 
                  previously received and approved by Lenders' Counsel, and 
                  shall contain: 
 
                                        (i) full coverage against mechanics' 
                           liens (filed and inchoate), 
 
                                        (ii) a reference to the survey but no 
                           survey exceptions except those theretofore approved 
                           by Lenders' Counsel, 
 
                                        (iii) such affirmative insurance and 
                           endorsements as Lenders' Counsel may require, and 
 
                                        (iv) if any such policy is dated earlier 
                           than the date of the disbursement of the Loan, a 
                           written continuation of or endorsement to such 
                           policy, in a form approved by Lenders' Counsel, and 
                           setting forth no additional exceptions except those 
                           approved by Lenders' Counsel, 
 
                 and shall be accompanied by such reinsurance agreements between 
                 the Title Insurer and title companies approved by 
                 Administrative Agent, in ALTA 1994 facultative form, as 
                 Administrative Agent may require; 
 
                               (8) Survey. A current survey of the Premises 
                  certified to Administrative Agent and the Title Insurer 
                  showing: 
 
                                        (i) the location of the perimeter of the 
                           Premises by courses and distances, 
 
                                        (ii) all easements, rights-of-way, and 
                           utility lines referred to in the title policy 
                           required by this Agreement or which actually service 
                           or cross the Premises, 
 
                                        (iii) the lines of the streets abutting 
                           the Premises and the width thereof, and any 
                           established building and setback lines, 
 
                                        (iv) encroachments and the extent 
                           thereof upon the Premises, 
 
                                        (v) the Improvements and the 
                           relationship of the Improvements by distances to the 
                           perimeter of the Premises, established building, 
                           setback and street lines, and 
 
                                        (vi) if the Premises are described as 
                           being on a filed map, a legend relating the survey to 
                           said map; 
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                               (9) Leases and Premises Documents. Certified 
                  copies of all leases in respect of the Premises, accompanied 
                  by, in the case of Sears and any other leases specified by 
                  Administrative Agent, estoppel certificates from the tenants 
                  thereunder and executed notice-of-assignment letters in the 
                  form of EXHIBIT B in respect thereof; executed subordination 
                  and attornment agreements, in Administrative Agent's usual 
                  form, in respect of such leases as Administrative Agent may 
                  require; a certified copy of the standard form of lease 
                  Borrower will use in connection with the leasing of space in 
                  the Improvements; and certified copies of all Premises 
                  Documents, together with estoppel certificates from the 
                  parties thereto; 
 
                               (10) Counsel Opinion. An opinion of Borrower's 
                  counsel to the effects set forth on EXHIBIT D or as otherwise 
                  acceptable to Lender's Counsel; 
 
                               (11) Organizational Documents. If Borrower, the 
                  mortgagor under the Mortgage (if different from Borrower), 
                  Guarantor or any general partner of any of them is a 
                  corporation, current copies of the following documents with 
                  respect to each (unless otherwise indicated) showing among 
                  other things that Borrower is a special purpose bankruptcy 
                  remote entity: 
 
                                        (i) a good-standing certificate from the 
                           jurisdiction of its incorporation and, as to Borrower 
                           and the mortgagor under the Mortgage only, from the 
                           State of New York, 
 
                                        (ii) a resolution, certified by the 
                           corporate secretary, of the shareholders or directors 
                           of the corporation authorizing the consummation of 
                           the transactions contemplated hereby and the 
                           execution, delivery and performance of the Loan 
                           Documents to be executed, delivered or performed by 
                           said corporation (including any substitute Notes 
                           executed and delivered pursuant to Section 8.05), and 
 
                                        (iii) a certificate of the corporate 
                           secretary as to the incumbency of the officers 
                           executing any of the documents required hereby, 
 
                 and, if Borrower, the mortgagor under the Mortgage (if 
                 different from Borrower), Guarantor or any general partner of 
                 any of them is a partnership, venture, limited liability 
                 company or trust: 
 
                                        (iv) the entity's organizational 
                           agreement and all amendments and attachments thereto, 
                           certified by a general partner, venturer, member or 
                           trustee to be true and complete, 
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                                        (v) any certificates filed or required 
                           to be filed by the entity in the jurisdiction of its 
                           formation and in the State of New York in order for 
                           it to do business in those jurisdictions, and 
 
                                        (vi) any consents by partners, 
                           venturers, members, trustees or beneficiaries 
                           required for the consummation of the transactions 
                           contemplated hereby; 
 
                               (12) List of Prior Owners. A list, certified by 
                  the Title Insurer, of the prior owners, tenants and other 
                  users, during the period from January 1, 1940 to the date of 
                  such certification, of all or any portion of the Premises or 
                  the Improvements thereon; 
 
                               (13) Requisition. A requisition for the Initial 
                  Advance, together with, if requested by Administrative Agent, 
                  proof of payment of any costs included therein; 
 
                               (14) Permits and Approvals. Copies of any and all 
                  authorizations (including plot plan and subdivision approvals, 
                  zoning variances, water, sewer, building and other permits) 
                  required by Governmental Authorities or otherwise necessary 
                  for the construction, use, occupancy and operation of the 
                  Premises and/or Improvements for the purposes contemplated by 
                  the Plans in accordance with all applicable Laws; 
 
                               (15) Management and Leasing Contracts. Certified 
                  copies of all agreements providing for or relating to the 
                  management, maintenance, operation or leasing of the Premises 
                  or Improvements (which agreements with affiliates of Borrower, 
                  Guarantor, Vornado Realty Trust or Interstate Properties shall 
                  provide that payments thereunder are subordinate to the 
                  amounts payable under the Mortgage and that the agreements 
                  shall terminate without premium or penalty, at Administrative 
                  Agent's option, during the continuance of an Event of Default, 
                  provided that all payments accruing prior to termination shall 
                  still be payable but shall not be a lien on the Premises), 
                  together with, in each case, such "will-serve" letters in 
                  respect thereof as Administrative Agent may require; 
 
                               (16) Chattel Searches. UCC searches against 
                  Borrower or other owner of the Premises and advice from the 
                  Title Insurer to the effect that searches of proper public 
                  records disclose no leases of personalty or financing 
                  statements filed or recorded against the Premises, Borrower or 
                  other owner of any Mortgaged Property; 
 
                               (17) Sale Agreements. Certified copies of all 
                  sales agreements which Borrower shall have entered into to 
                  acquire the property or any tenancy in common interests 
                  (including the existing tenancy-in-common 
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                  agreements and all drafts, final drafts and executed copies of 
                  the sales contracts); 
 
                               (18) Tanks. Documentation of the ownership of 
                  underground storage tanks, aboveground storage tanks, chilled 
                  water system and boilers at the Premises, and any related 
                  operations agreements; 
 
                               (19) Contamination. Any information available to 
                  Borrower regarding entities that may have contributed to any 
                  environmental condition identified at the Premises in the 
                  Environmental Reports or otherwise by or to Borrower and any 
                  constraints on potential contribution, indemnification, cost 
                  recovery or similar actions; 
 
                               (20) City Leases. Certified copies of any leases 
                  with the City for property owned by the City and leased to 
                  Borrower and consent of the City to the assignment of such 
                  leases to Administrative Agent as security for the Loan; 
 
                               (21) Use of Funds. A complete schedule specifying 
                  in detail the usage of all Loan proceeds, together with such 
                  supporting evidence of such usage as Administrative Agent 
                  shall require; 
 
                               (22) Budget. A detailed budget for the Building 
                  Loan and the Other Loan and evidence satisfactory to 
                  Administrative Agent and its Construction Consultant (as 
                  defined in the Building Loan) that (x) $120,000,000 is 
                  sufficient to complete the Improvements contemplated under the 
                  Building Loan and all improvements required under Borrower's 
                  agreements with Federated and Sears and (y) such budget 
                  contains an adequate interest reserve given the projected cash 
                  flow for the Improvements; 
 
                               (23) Environmental Reports. The Environmental 
                  Reports; 
 
                               (24) Financial Responsibility Requirements. 
                  Documentation demonstrating the full and timely compliance of 
                  Borrower and Guarantor with any financial responsibility 
                  requirements of Environmental, Health and Safety Laws 
                  applicable to the ownership, operation, lease or other use of 
                  the Premises; 
 
                               (25) Transfer Requirements. Documentation 
                  demonstrating full and timely compliance with any applicable 
                  Environmental, Health and Safety Laws which condition, 
                  restrict, regulate, or prohibit in any way the transfer, sale, 
                  or lease of the Premises by or to Borrower or Guarantor, 
                  including, without limitation, Environmental, Health and 
                  Safety Laws which require the transfer, amendment, issuance or 
                  reissuance of EHS Permits relating to the Premises in 
                  connection with the transfer, sale, or lease of the Premises; 
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                               (26) Debt Yield. Evidence that the Debt Yield for 
                  the calendar quarter preceding the initial advance shall have 
                  been at least 14%; and 
 
                               (27) Additional Documentation. Such other 
                  approvals, opinions or documents as Administrative Agent may 
                  reasonably request. 
 
                  4.02. Conditions to the Second Advance. Lenders' obligation to 
make a second advance of the remaining proceeds of the Loan shall be subject to 
the satisfaction of the following conditions: 
 
                      (a) All conditions of Section 4.01 shall have been and 
         remain satisfied as of the date of such advance; 
 
                      (b) There shall exist no Default or Event of Default; 
 
                      (c) The representations and warranties made to 
         Administrative Agent and/or Lenders herein, in the Environmental 
         Agreement, in the other Loan Documents and in any other document, 
         certificate or statement executed or delivered to Administrative Agent 
         and/or Lenders in connection with the Loan shall be true and correct in 
         all material respects on and as of the date of such advance with the 
         same effect as if made on such date; 
 
                      (d) Administrative Agent shall have received a written 
         continuation report of or endorsement to the title policy insuring the 
         Mortgage to the date of such advance, in the form approved by Lenders' 
         Counsel, conforming to the pending disbursement requirements set forth 
         in EXHIBIT G and setting forth no additional exceptions (including 
         survey exceptions) except those approved by Lenders' Counsel; 
 
                      (e) If required by Administrative Agent, it shall have 
         received a survey of the Premises certified to it, and the Title 
         Insurer, updated, with respect to all relevant requirements and 
         information, to within ten (10) days of such advance; 
 
                      (f) Administrative Agent shall have received a complete 
         schedule specifying in detail the usage of the Loan proceeds of such 
         advance, together with such other documentation and information as it 
         may reasonably require providing evidence of such usage; 
 
                      (g) Administrative Agent shall have received evidence that 
         the Debt Yield for the calendar quarter preceding such advance shall 
         have been at least 14%; and 
 
                      (h) Administrative Agent shall have received reports and 
         other information (1) in addition to the Environmental Reports, deemed 
         adequate by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion to determine 
         the extent to which EHS Damages relating to the Premises or Borrower's 
         obligations under the Additional Documents, in addition to the 
         Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action, may 
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         occur or arise during the term of the Loan (the amount of such EHS 
         Damages, in Administrative Agent's sole judgment, being called the 
         "Additional Amount") and (2) from its construction consultant as to the 
         physical structure and integrity of the Improvements deemed adequate by 
         Administrative Agent in its sole discretion to determine the extent of 
         any additional repairs and maintenance which may need to be performed 
         during the term of the Loan (such additional work being called the 
         "Additional Engineering Work" and the amount thereof, in Administrative 
         Agent's sole judgment, being called the "Additional Engineering 
         Amount"). 
 
                  4.03. Procedures for Second Advance. (a) Upon the satisfaction 
of the conditions set forth in Section 4.02, Lenders shall make the second 
advance of all remaining undisbursed Loan proceeds (i.e., $2,000,000), subject 
to the additional conditions that (1) all or a portion of such second advance in 
the Additional Amount be deposited into an interest-bearing account (the "Other 
EHS Damages Account") with Administrative Agent to be available, subject to the 
provisions of this Section 4.03, to fund costs and expenses incurred, suffered 
or imposed upon Borrower during the term of this Agreement in connection with 
EHS Damages relating to the Premises or Borrower's obligations under the 
Additional Documents other than costs and expenses incurred in connection with 
the Identified Hydrocarbon Remedial Action ("Other EHS Damages") and (2) all or 
a portion of such second advance in the Additional Engineering Amount shall be 
deposited in the Engineering Maintenance Account (to be distributed as provided 
in Section 2.13 with the Additional Engineering Work becoming an additional 
component of the Identified Engineering Maintenance Action). If after 
Administrative Agent's receipt of the reports set forth in Section 4.02(h), the 
amount of the second advance is insufficient to fund the Other EHS Damages and 
the Additional Engineering Work, Borrower covenants to fund the amount of such 
insufficiency into the appropriate Account with Administrative Agent. Provided 
there exists no Event of Default interest earned on the Other EHS Damages 
Account shall be paid to Borrower quarterly. 
 
         (b) Other EHS Damages shall be disbursed by Administrative Agent, at 
Administrative Agent's Office, from the Other EHS Damages Account within seven 
(7) Business Days following the date when all of the following conditions have 
been satisfied: (i) Borrower has delivered to Administrative Agent a current 
description of the Other EHS Damages for which Borrower seeks disbursement from 
the Other EHS Damages Account prepared by a qualified environmental consultant, 
remedial contractor and/or other appropriate qualified expert, (ii) Borrower has 
delivered to Administrative Agent a certification that (x) the Other EHS Damages 
for which Borrower seeks disbursement from the Other EHS Damages Account were 
(A) required to be incurred by Borrower pursuant to applicable Environmental, 
Health and Safety Laws and/or (B) necessary or appropriate to avoid or address 
impairment of the collateral for the Loan relating to Environmental, Health and 
Safety Laws, and (y) the Other EHS Damages for which Borrower seeks disbursement 
from the Other EHS Damages Account were actually incurred by Borrower, which 
certification shall include supporting documentation, including invoices or 
other documentation of costs actually incurred ("Certified Other EHS Damages 
Amounts") and (iii) Borrower has delivered to Administrative Agent a mechanics' 
lien waiver or release of lien documentation with respect to the work that is 
the subject of the disbursement. 
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         (c) Administrative Agent, no later than three (3) Business Days prior 
to the date a disbursement of Certified Other EHS Damages Amounts is to be made, 
shall (i) notify each Lender either by telephone or by facsimile of the 
Certified Other EHS Damages Amount requested by Borrower and the proposed date 
of the disbursement and (ii) send to each Lender by facsimile the Borrower's 
certification of the Certified Other EHS Damages Amounts, with supporting 
documentation. 
 
         (d) To the extent Administrative Agent determines at any time that 
amounts remaining in the Other EHS Damages Account are insufficient to address 
Other EHS Damages, Administrative Agent may notify Borrower in writing of the 
general basis for such determination and the amount of the estimated 
insufficiency. Borrower shall have five (5) days from the date of such 
notification to respond. After the expiration of such five (5) day period, 
Administrative Agent may make a final determination as to the amount of the 
estimated insufficiency and shall provide notice thereof to Borrower in writing. 
Borrower, within fourteen (14) days following the date of such written notice, 
shall deposit the amount of such estimated insufficiency into the Other EHS 
Damages Account. 
 
         (e) Any sums remaining in the Other EHS Damages Account shall be funded 
to Borrower within forty-five (45) Business Days following the earlier to occur 
of (i) delivery to Administrative Agent of documentation deemed adequate by 
Lenders demonstrating to Lenders' satisfaction that Borrower has no potentially 
significant liability or obligation relating to Other EHS Damages or (ii) 
termination of the Environmental Agreement pursuant to its terms; provided, 
however, that if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing at such time 
as the terms of subsection (i) of the foregoing clause are satisfied, all monies 
in the Other EHS Damages Account automatically shall be pledged to Lenders as 
security for the Loan, the Building Loan and the Other Loan and may be applied 
to the reduction thereof, as Lenders shall elect, during the continuance of such 
Event of Default. 
 
 
                                    ARTICLE V 
 
                         REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 
 
         Borrower represents and warrants to Administrative Agent and Lenders 
that: 
 
                  5.01. Due Formation, Power and Authority. If it, the mortgagor 
under the Mortgage (if different from Borrower), Guarantor or any general 
partner of any of them is a corporation, partnership, venture, limited liability 
company or trust, each such entity is duly organized, validly existing and in 
good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, is qualified 
to do business (if required) and is in good standing in the State of New York, 
and has full power and authority to consummate the transactions contemplated 
hereby and to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and any Loan Document 
to which it is a party. 
 
                  5.02. Legally Enforceable Agreements. Each Loan Document to 
which Borrower or Guarantor is a party is a legal, valid and binding obligation 
of such party, 
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enforceable against Borrower or Guarantor, as the case may be, in accordance 
with its terms, except to the extent that such enforcement may be limited by 
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and other similar Laws affecting creditors' 
rights generally. 
 
                  5.03. Financial Statements. Financial Statements have been 
heretofore delivered to Lenders which are true, correct and current in all 
respects and which fairly present the respective financial conditions of the 
subjects thereof as of the respective dates thereof; no material adverse change 
has occurred in the financial conditions reflected therein since the respective 
dates thereof and no borrowings (other than the Loan) which might give rise to a 
lien or claim against the Mortgaged Property or proceeds of the Loan have been 
made by Borrower or others since the dates thereof. 
 
                  5.04. Compliance With Laws; Payment of Taxes. Borrower and 
Guarantor are in compliance with, and the transactions contemplated hereby and 
the other Loan Documents do not and will not violate any provision of, or 
require any filing, registration, consent or approval under, any Law presently 
in effect having applicability to Borrower or Guarantor; Borrower has filed all 
tax returns (federal, state and local) required to be filed and has paid all 
taxes, assessments and governmental charges and levies due and payable 
(including those in respect of the Premises), including interest and penalties. 
 
                  5.05. Litigation. There are no actions, suits or proceedings 
pending or, to the knowledge of Borrower, threatened against or affecting it, 
Guarantor, the Premises, the validity or enforceability of the Mortgage or the 
priority of the lien thereof at law, in equity or before or by any Governmental 
Authorities except actions, suits or proceedings which have been disclosed to 
Administrative Agent and Lenders in writing and which are fully covered by 
insurance, subject to reasonable deductibles, or would, if adversely determined, 
not substantially impair the ability of Borrower or Guarantor to pay when due 
any amounts which may become payable under the Notes or Environmental Agreement 
or to otherwise pay and perform their respective obligations in connection with 
the Loan; to Borrower's knowledge, neither it nor Guarantor is in default with 
respect to any order, writ, injunction, decree or demand of any court or 
Governmental Authorities, except where such default would not substantially 
impair the ability of Borrower or Guarantor to pay when due any amounts which 
may become payable under the Loan Documents. 
 
                  5.06. No Conflicts or Defaults. The consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereby and the performance hereof and of the other 
Loan Documents have not resulted and will not result in any breach of, or 
constitute a default under, any mortgage, deed of trust, lease, bank loan or 
credit agreement, corporate charter, by-laws, partnership agreement or other 
instrument to which Borrower or Guarantor is a party or by which either of them 
may be bound or affected, except where such breach or default would not 
substantially impair the ability of Borrower or Guarantor to pay when due any 
amounts which may become payable under the Loan Documents. 
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                  5.07. Solvency. Borrower and Guarantor are, and upon 
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the other Loan 
Documents and any other related documents, will be, solvent. 
 
                  5.08. Governmental Regulation. Borrower is not subject to 
regulation under the Investment Company Act of 1940 or any Law limiting its 
ability to incur indebtedness for money borrowed as contemplated hereby. 
 
                  5.09. Insurance. Borrower has in force, and has paid the 
premiums in respect of, all of the insurance required by the Mortgage. 
 
                  5.10. ERISA. Neither Borrower nor Guarantor nor any other 
Person, including any fiduciary, has engaged in any prohibited transaction (as 
defined in Section 4975 of the Code or Section 406 of ERISA) which could subject 
Borrower or Guarantor or any Person whom they have an obligation to indemnify to 
any tax or penalty imposed under Section 4975 of the Code or Section 502 of 
ERISA; neither Borrower nor Guarantor nor any ERISA Affiliate maintains, 
contributes to or has any liability with respect to a Multiemployer Plan or any 
other plan subject to Title IV of ERISA; each Employee Benefit Plan is 
administered in accordance with its terms and in compliance with all applicable 
Laws, including any reporting requirements; each Pension Plan intending to 
qualify under Section 401(a) or 401(k) of the Code does so qualify; there is no 
lien outstanding or security interest given in connection with a Pension Plan; 
neither Borrower nor Guarantor nor any ERISA Affiliate has any liability with 
respect to an accumulated funding deficiency (whether or not waived) under 
Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA; neither Borrower nor Guarantor 
has any liability for retiree medical or death benefits (contingent or 
otherwise) other than as required by Section 4980B of the Code; and no part of 
the funds to be used by Borrower or Guarantor in satisfaction of their 
respective obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents 
constitute "plan assets" of any "employee benefit plan" within the meaning of 
ERISA or of any "plan" within the meaning of Section 4975(e)(1) of the Code, as 
interpreted by the Internal Revenue Service and the United States Department of 
Labor in rules, regulations, releases or bulletins or as interpreted under 
applicable case law. 
 
                  5.11. Other Documents. The Major Leases and Premises Documents 
are unmodified (except for modifications previously delivered to Administrative 
Agent) and in full force and effect, there are no defaults (or events which with 
notice or the passage of time, or both, would constitute such a default) under 
any thereof and all conditions to the effectiveness and continuing effectiveness 
thereof required to be satisfied as of the date hereof have been satisfied. 
 
                  5.12. No Default. There exists no Default or Event of Default. 
 
                  5.13. Accuracy of Information; Full Disclosure. Neither this 
Agreement nor any documents, financial statements, reports, notices, schedules, 
certificates, statements or other writings furnished by or on behalf of Borrower 
or Guarantor to Administrative Agent or Lenders in connection with the 
negotiation of this Agreement or other Loan Documents or the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereby, or 
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required herein or by the other Loan Documents to be furnished by or on behalf 
of Borrower or Guarantor, contains any untrue or misleading statement of a 
material fact or omits a material fact necessary to make the statements herein 
or therein not misleading; there is no fact which Borrower has not disclosed to 
Administrative Agent and Lenders in writing which materially affects adversely 
nor, so far as Borrower can now foresee, will materially affect adversely any of 
the Mortgaged Property or the business affairs or financial condition of 
Borrower or Guarantor, or the ability of Borrower or Guarantor to perform this 
Agreement and the other Loan Documents. 
 
                  5.14. Separate Tax and Zoning Lot. The Premises constitute all 
of lots 55 and 114 of Block 8470 and the leasehold estate comprising a portion 
of the Premises constitutes part of lot 50 and part of lot 1 of Block 8470 for 
purposes of zoning and of taxes, assessments and impositions (public or private) 
and are not otherwise considered as part of a larger single lot for purposes of 
zoning or of taxes, assessments or impositions (public or private). 
 
                  5.15. Utility Services. All utility services necessary for the 
Improvements and the operation thereof for their intended purposes are available 
at the boundaries of the Premises, including water supply, storm and sanitary 
sewer, gas, electric power and telephone facilities. 
 
                  5.16. Creation of Liens. It has entered into no contract or 
arrangement of any kind the performance of which by the other party thereto 
would give rise to a lien on the Mortgaged Property prior to the Mortgage. 
 
                  5.17. Roads. All roads necessary for the full utilization of 
the Improvements for their intended purposes have either been completed or the 
necessary rights of way therefor have been acquired by appropriate Governmental 
Authorities or dedicated to public use and accepted by said Governmental 
Authorities. 
 
                  5.18. Construction Prior to Closing. It advised the Title 
Insurer in writing prior to the issuance of the title policy insuring the 
Mortgage whether any survey, soils-testing, site-development, excavation or 
other work related to construction of the Improvements was begun or done before 
the Mortgage was recorded. 
 
                  5.19. Federated Indemnity. Except as set forth in the 
Additional Documents, neither Borrower nor Guarantor nor any of their parent 
companies have given an indemnity on environmental matters to Federated or any 
affiliate thereof with respect to the Premises. 
 
                  5.20. Additional Representations. All of the representations 
of Borrower or its predecessor-in-interest under the Additional Documents are 
true and correct. 
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                                   ARTICLE VI 
 
                              COVENANTS OF BORROWER 
 
         Borrower covenants and agrees that it will promptly: 
 
                  6.01. Compliance with Laws; Payment of Taxes. Comply with all 
Laws applicable to it or the Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, such 
compliance to include, without limitation, paying before the same become 
delinquent all taxes, assessments and governmental charges imposed on it or the 
Mortgaged Property, or any part thereof, and promptly furnish Administrative 
Agent with reports of any official searches made by Governmental Authorities and 
any claims of violations thereof. 
 
                  6.02. Leases and Premises Documents. Deliver to Administrative 
Agent certified copies of all leases in respect of the Premises and all Premises 
Documents and all amendments to any thereof (in any case, whether executed 
before or after the date hereof) together with (i) if requested by 
Administrative Agent, current financial statements of the tenants thereunder or 
parties thereto, as the case may be, and of the guarantor(s), if any, of such 
tenants or parties (but only to the extent provided to Borrower) and (ii) in the 
case of all Major Leases, a notice-of-assignment letter in the form of EXHIBIT 
B; and keep all Premises Documents and, except as may be permitted by the 
Mortgage, all leases in full force and effect. Borrower shall not enter into any 
lease in respect of the Premises without the prior written approval of 
Administrative Agent (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or 
conditioned with respect to a Credit Lease), unless the lease would not be a 
Major Lease and is on Borrower's standard form without material changes and 
provides for a market rental in which event no approval shall be required. 
 
                  If approval is required, the following procedure shall be 
followed regarding lease approvals. Borrower may but shall not be required to 
submit to Administrative Agent and Lenders' Counsel a term sheet summarizing the 
principal terms of the lease (together with, at Borrower's option, a draft of 
the proposed lease, which shall be marked to show changes from the approved 
standard form of lease, if the lease is based on such form and, if requested by 
tenant, a draft of a non-disturbance, attornment and subordination agreement (an 
"SNDA") marked to show changes from an approved form of SNDA), accompanied by a 
request for approval thereof and also accompanied by, to the extent that 
Borrower was able to obtain them after having used reasonable efforts to do so, 
the respective current financial statements of the lessee under such proposed 
lease and the guarantor(s), if any, of such lessee's obligations thereunder. 
Administrative Agent shall notify Borrower within five (5) Business Days after 
its and Lenders' Counsel's receipt of the term sheet (and, if applicable, lease 
draft or SNDA) and accompanying materials of its approval or disapproval of the 
term sheet (and, if applicable, lease draft or SNDA). If notice of approval or 
disapproval is not given by the end of such period, such term sheet (and, if 
applicable, lease draft or SNDA) shall be deemed approved, provided the written 
request for approval from Borrower contains the legend set forth in the last 
sentence of this Section. Borrower shall also submit to Administrative Agent and 
Lenders' Counsel a request for approval of the lease itself, 
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accompanied by (1) a copy of the proposed lease, executed by the tenant, (2) any 
guaranty(ies) of said lease, (3) if the lease is based on Borrower's standard 
form, a copy of the lease marked to show changes from the approved standard 
lease form, or, if a draft has previously been submitted, a copy of the lease 
marked to show changes from such draft and (4) if an SNDA is requested, a copy 
of the proposed SNDA, executed by tenant, together with any changes in such SNDA 
since any previous draft submitted to Administrative Agent under this Section 
6.02. Administrative Agent shall notify Borrower within five (5) Business Days 
after its and Lenders' Counsel's receipt of the lease and accompanying materials 
of its approval or disapproval of the lease or SNDA. Administrative Agent may 
not object to any lease provision or SNDA that is consistent with the terms of 
an approved (or deemed approved) term sheet or previously approved (or deemed 
approved) lease draft or previously approved (or deemed approved) SNDA. 
Administrative Agent's failure to give notification of approval or disapproval 
to Borrower within such five (5) Business Day period shall be deemed to 
constitute Administrative Agent's approval of the lease or SNDA, provided the 
written request for approval from Borrower contains the legend set forth in the 
last sentence of this Section. In no event shall a lease be deemed approved if 
the term sheet with respect thereto was disapproved and, notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary contained in this Section, no lease, term sheet or SNDA 
shall be deemed approved during the existence of an Event of Default. To the 
extent Plans (or schematic plans) are included in the documents constituting a 
lease, Administrative Agent and its construction consultant shall have the right 
to review the same as part of the lease approval process. Each request for 
approval of a lease, lease draft, term sheet or SNDA pursuant to this Section 
shall make specific reference to the provisions of this Section and shall 
expressly state, in all capital letters on the first page thereof: "YOU ARE 
HEREBY REMINDED THAT YOUR FAILURE TO PROVIDE NOTIFICATION OF APPROVAL OR 
DISAPPROVAL NOT LATER THAN FIVE (5) BUSINESS DAYS AFTER YOUR RECEIPT OF THIS 
REQUEST, SHALL BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE YOUR APPROVAL THEREOF." 
 
                  6.03. Continuing Accuracy of Representations and Warranties. 
Cause all of the representations and warranties made to Administrative Agent or 
Lenders herein and in the other Loan Documents to be continuously true and 
correct. 
 
                  6.04. Covenants, Restrictions and Easements. Comply with all 
restrictions, covenants and easements affecting the Premises or the Improvements 
and cause the satisfaction of all conditions hereof. 
 
                  6.05. Payment of Costs. Pay all costs and expenses required 
for the satisfaction of the conditions hereof, including, without limitation: 
 
                      (a) all document and stamp taxes, recording and filing 
         expenses and fees and commissions lawfully due to brokers in connection 
         with the transactions contemplated hereby, 
 
                      (b) any taxes, insurance premiums, liens, security 
         interests or other claims or charges against the Premises or 
         Improvements, and 
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                      (c) all costs of completion of the work to be performed by 
         Borrower in space to be occupied in the Improvements (including public 
         space) to permit the lawful occupancy thereof for the purposes 
         contemplated by actual or prospective lessees of such space as set 
         forth in the individual leases, subleases or in detailed work letters 
         or other agreements or letters of intent with respect thereto, or, in 
         cases where there are no such leases, subleases, contracts, work 
         letters or other documents as aforesaid, as set forth in Borrower's 
         standard work letter or the standard form of lease required by 
         paragraph (9) of Section 4.01(e), or, in cases where none of the 
         foregoing exists, to the level of building standard in accordance with 
         industry practices. 
 
                  6.06. Brokers. Indemnify Administrative Agent and Lenders 
against claims of brokers arising by reason of the execution hereof or the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
                  6.07. Management and Leasing of Premises. No later than six 
(6) months after the date hereof and at all times thereafter, cause an affiliate 
of Vornado Realty Trust or Interstate Properties (so long as it is controlled by 
Steven Roth) to serve as developer, property manager and leasing agent for the 
Premises and keep in full force and effect and not modify any management and/or 
leasing agreement(s) approved by Administrative Agent, without Administrative 
Agent's prior written consent. 
 
                  6.08. Maintenance, Management, Service and Leasing Contracts. 
Deliver to Administrative Agent, as and when executed, certified copies of all 
maintenance, management, service and leasing contracts entered into with respect 
to the Premises, each of which shall be entered into with a party, and on terms 
and conditions, reasonably acceptable to Administrative Agent; and 
contemporaneously with entering into each such contract, at Administrative 
Agent's option, cause the service provider under each such contract to deliver 
to Administrative Agent a "will-serve" letter, on Administrative Agent's 
standard form, pursuant to which such service provider shall undertake, inter 
alia, to continue performance on Lenders' behalf in the event of a Default 
without additional cost (other than sums owed pursuant to such contract for 
services thereafter rendered to or for Administrative Agent or Lenders at its or 
their request). 
 
                  6.09. Tax Parcel. Upon Administrative Agent's request, 
Borrower shall promptly apply to cause portions of the Premises owned (but not 
leased) by it to become separate tax parcels from those properties owned by any 
third party (such as Federated); however, it is understood that the Additional 
Agreements shall govern the payment of taxes. 
 
                  6.10. Reporting Requirements. Furnish to Administrative Agent 
(it being understood that Administrative Agent shall provide, promptly upon 
request, to each Lender): 
 
                      (1) Annual Financial Statements. As soon as available and 
         in any event within ninety (90) days after the end of the respective 
         fiscal years of Borrower and Guarantor, Financial Statements of 
         Borrower and Guarantor, as of 
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         the end of and for such fiscal year, certified by the principal 
         financial or accounting officer of Borrower or Guarantor, as the case 
         may be, in reasonable detail, stating in comparative form the 
         respective figures for the preceding fiscal year and audited by a firm 
         of certified public accountants reasonably satisfactory to 
         Administrative Agent; 
 
                      (2) Quarterly Operating Statements and Computations. On or 
         before the forty-fifth (45th) day following the end of each calendar 
         quarter, (i) operating statements of Borrower for such quarter, 
         certified by the principal financial or accounting officer of the 
         managing general partner of Borrower; (ii) computations of Net 
         Operating Income, Adjusted NOI, Net Cash Flow and the Debt Yield for 
         such quarter, and, if any amortization payment is required pursuant to 
         Section 2.11, a computation of the amount of such payment; and (iii) 
         such supporting documentation in connection with the foregoing as 
         Administrative Agent may reasonably request; 
 
                      (3) Certificate of No Default. At the time of the delivery 
         of the Financial Statements required by paragraph (2) above, a 
         certificate of the principal financial or accounting officer of 
         Borrower or Guarantor, as the case may be, dated within five (5) days 
         of the delivery of such statements to Administrative Agent, stating 
         that such officer knows of no Default or Event of Default which has 
         occurred and is continuing, or, if any such Default or Event of Default 
         has occurred and is continuing, specifying the nature and period of 
         existence thereof and what action Borrower has taken or proposes to 
         take with respect thereto; 
 
                      (4) Notice of Litigation. Promptly after the commencement 
         and knowledge thereof, notice of all actions, suits and proceedings 
         before any court or arbitrator or any Governmental Authorities, 
         affecting Borrower, Guarantor or all or any part of the Mortgaged 
         Property; 
 
                      (5) Notices of Defaults. As soon as possible and in any 
         event within five (5) days after Borrower becomes aware of the 
         occurrence of a Default or Event of Default, a written notice setting 
         forth the details of such Default or Event of Default and the action 
         that has been taken or is proposed to be taken with respect thereto; 
 
                      (6) Leasing Reports and Property Information. Within 
         twenty (20) days after the end of each month, (i) a current certified 
         leasing status report with respect to the Premises and a certified rent 
         roll containing the names of all lessees of the Premises, the terms of 
         their respective leases, the spaces occupied and the rentals payable 
         thereunder, together with copies, certified to be true and complete, of 
         such leases as may be requested by Administrative Agent and (ii) a 
         tenant sales report summary for the second preceding month; and 
 
                      (7) General Information. Promptly, such other information 
         respecting the condition or operations, financial or otherwise, of 
         Borrower, Guarantor or the 
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         Premises as Administrative Agent or any Lender may from time to time 
         reasonably request. 
 
                  6.11. Additional Documents. Comply with all covenants 
applicable to it in the Premises Documents or the Additional Documents and 
comply with all covenants in the Environmental Agreement. 
 
                                   ARTICLE VII 
 
                  ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT; RELATIONS AMONG LENDERS 
 
                  7.01. Appointment, Powers and Immunities of Administrative 
Agent. Each Lender hereby irrevocably appoints and authorizes Administrative 
Agent to act as its agent hereunder and under any other Loan Document with such 
powers as are specifically delegated to Administrative Agent by the terms of 
this Agreement and any other Loan Document, together with such other powers as 
are reasonably incidental thereto. Administrative Agent shall perform its 
obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents in good faith 
according to the same standard of care as that customarily exercised by 
Administrative Agent in administering its own real estate loans. Administrative 
Agent shall have no duties or responsibilities except those expressly set forth 
in this Agreement and any other Loan Document or required by Law, and shall not 
by reason of this Agreement be a fiduciary or trustee for any Lender except to 
the extent that Administrative Agent acts as an agent with respect to the 
receipt or payment of funds, nor shall Administrative Agent have any fiduciary 
duty to Borrower nor shall any Lender have any fiduciary duty to Borrower or any 
other Lender. Administrative Agent shall not be responsible to Lenders for any 
recitals, statements, representations or warranties made by Borrower or any 
officer, partner or official of Borrower or any other Person contained in this 
Agreement or any other Loan Document, or in any certificate or other document or 
instrument referred to or provided for in, or received by any of them under, 
this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or for the value, legality, validity, 
effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of this Agreement or 
any other Loan Document or any other document or instrument referred to or 
provided for herein or therein, for the perfection or priority of any lien 
securing the obligations hereunder or thereunder or for any failure by Borrower 
or any Guarantor to perform any of its obligations hereunder or thereunder. 
Administrative Agent may employ agents and attorneys-in-fact and shall not be 
responsible, except as to money or securities received by it or its authorized 
agents, for the negligence or misconduct of any such agents or attorneys-in-fact 
selected by it with reasonable care. Neither Administrative Agent nor any of its 
directors, officers, employees or agents shall be liable or responsible for any 
action taken or omitted to be taken by it or them hereunder or under any other 
Loan Document or in connection herewith or therewith, except for its or their 
own gross negligence or willful misconduct. 
 
                  7.02. Reliance by Administrative Agent. Administrative Agent 
shall be entitled to rely upon any certification, notice or other communication 
(including any thereof by telephone, telex, telegram or cable) believed by it to 
be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by or on behalf of the 
proper Person or Persons, and upon 
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advice and statements of legal counsel, independent accountants and other 
experts selected by Administrative Agent. Administrative Agent may deem and 
treat each Lender as the holder of its Note and interest in the Loan for all 
purposes hereof and shall not be required to deal with any Person who has 
acquired a Participation in the Loan from a Lender. As to any matters not 
expressly provided for by this Agreement or any other Loan Document, 
Administrative Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in 
refraining from acting, in accordance with instructions signed by the Required 
Lenders, and such instructions of the Required Lenders and any action taken or 
failure to act pursuant thereto shall be binding on all of Lenders and any other 
holder of all or any portion of the Loan or Participation therein. 
 
                  7.03. Defaults. Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to 
have knowledge of the occurrence of a Default or of an Event of Default unless 
Administrative Agent has actual knowledge thereof or has received notice from a 
Lender or Borrower specifying such Default or Event of Default and stating that 
such notice is a "Notice of Default." In the event that Administrative Agent has 
such actual knowledge or receives such a notice of the occurrence of a Default 
or Event of Default, Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice thereof to 
Lenders. Administrative Agent shall promptly send to each Lender a copy of any 
notice of a Default or Event of Default that Administrative Agent sends to 
Borrower or Guarantor. Administrative Agent, following consultation with 
Lenders, shall (subject to Section 7.07) take such action with respect to such 
Default or Event of Default which is continuing as shall be directed by the 
Required Lenders; provided that, unless and until Administrative Agent shall 
have received such directions, Administrative Agent may take such action, or 
refrain from taking such action, with respect to such Default or Event of 
Default as it shall deem to be in the best interest of Lenders. In no event 
shall Administrative Agent be required to take any such action which it 
determines to be contrary to Law. 
 
                  7.04. Rights of Administrative Agent as Lender. With respect 
to its Note and interest in the Loan, Administrative Agent in its capacity as a 
Lender hereunder shall have the same rights and powers hereunder as any other 
Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not acting as Administrative 
Agent, and the terms "Lender" and "Lenders" shall include Administrative Agent 
in its capacity as a Lender. Administrative Agent and its affiliates may 
(without having to account therefor to any Lender) accept deposits from, lend 
money to (on a secured or unsecured basis), and generally engage in any kind of 
banking, trust or other business with Borrower or Guarantor (and any affiliates 
of them) as if it were not acting as Administrative Agent. 
 
                  7.05. Sharing of Costs by Lenders; Indemnification of 
Administrative Agent. Each Lender agrees to pay its ratable share, based on the 
respective outstanding principal balances under its Note and the Other Notes, of 
any expenses incurred (and not paid or reimbursed by Borrower after demand for 
payment is made by Administrative Agent) by or on behalf of Lenders in 
connection with any Default or Event of Default, including, without limitation, 
costs of enforcement of the Loan Documents and any advances to pay taxes or 
insurance premiums or otherwise to preserve the lien of the Mortgage or to 
preserve or protect the Mortgaged Property. In the event a Lender fails to pay 
its share of expenses as aforesaid, and all or a portion of such unpaid amount 
is paid 
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by Administrative Agent and/or one or more of the other Lenders, then the 
defaulting Lender shall reimburse Administrative Agent and/or the other 
Lender(s) for the portion of such unpaid amount paid by it or them, as the case 
may be, together with interest thereon at the Prime Based Rate from the date of 
payment by Administrative Agent and/or the other Lender(s). In addition, each 
Lender agrees to reimburse and indemnify Administrative Agent (to the extent it 
is not paid by on or behalf of Borrower, after demand for payment is made by 
Administrative Agent, under Section 8.11 or under the applicable provisions of 
any other Loan Document, but without limiting the obligation of Borrower under 
said Section 8.11 or such provisions), for such Lender's ratable share, based 
upon the respective outstanding principal balances under its Note and the Other 
Notes, of any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, 
actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind and 
nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against 
Administrative Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement, 
any other Loan Document or any other documents contemplated by or referred to 
herein or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (including, without 
limitation, the costs and expenses which Borrower is obligated to pay under 
Section 8.11) or under the applicable provisions of any other Loan Document or 
the enforcement of any of the terms hereof or thereof or of any such other 
documents or instruments; provided that no Lender shall be liable for (i) any of 
the foregoing to the extent they arise from the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of the party to be indemnified or (ii) any loss of principal or 
interest with respect to Administrative Agent's Note or interest in the Loan. 
 
                  7.06. Non-Reliance on Administrative Agent and Other Lenders. 
Each Lender agrees that it has, independently and without reliance on 
Administrative Agent or any other Lender, and based on such documents and 
information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own analysis of the 
collateral for the Loan and of the credit of Borrower and Guarantor, and its own 
decision to enter into this Agreement, and that it will, independently and 
without reliance upon Administrative Agent or any other Lender, and based on 
such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, 
continue to make its own analysis and decisions in taking or not taking action 
under this Agreement or any other Loan Document. Administrative Agent shall not 
be required to keep itself informed as to the performance or observance by 
Borrower of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any other document 
referred to or provided for herein or therein or to inspect the properties 
(including, without limitation, the Premises) or books of Borrower. Except for 
notices, reports and other documents and information expressly required to be 
furnished to Lenders by Administrative Agent hereunder, Administrative Agent 
shall not have any duty or responsibility to provide any Lender with any credit 
or other information concerning the affairs, financial condition or business of 
Borrower or Guarantor (or any affiliate of them) which may come into the 
possession of Administrative Agent or any of its affiliates. 
 
                  7.07. Failure of Administrative Agent to Act. Except for 
action expressly required of Administrative Agent hereunder, Administrative 
Agent shall in all cases be fully justified in failing or refusing to act 
hereunder unless it shall have received further assurances (which may include 
cash collateral) of the indemnification obligations 
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of Lenders under Section 7.05 in respect of any and all liability and expense 
which may be incurred by it by reason of taking or continuing to take any such 
action. 
 
                  7.08. Resignation or Removal of Administrative Agent. 
Administrative Agent may resign on at least thirty (30) days' written notice to 
Lenders and Borrower or upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. 
Administrative Agent may be removed at any time with cause by the Required 
Lenders, provided that Borrower and the other Lenders shall be promptly notified 
thereof. Upon such resignation or removal of Administrative Agent, the Required 
Lenders shall have the right to appoint a successor Administrative Agent, which 
successor Administrative Agent shall (provided there exists no Event of Default) 
be subject to Borrower's approval, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld 
or delayed. If no successor Administrative Agent shall have been so appointed by 
the Required Lenders, and shall have accepted such appointment, within twenty 
(20) days after the resignation or the Required Lenders' removal of the retiring 
Administrative Agent, then the retiring Administrative Agent may, on behalf of 
Lenders, appoint a successor Administrative Agent, which shall be one of 
Lenders, within ten (10) days. The Required Lenders or the retiring 
Administrative Agent, as the case may be, shall upon the appointment of a 
successor Administrative Agent promptly so notify Borrower and the other 
Lenders. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as Administrative Agent 
hereunder by a successor Administrative Agent, such successor Administrative 
Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, 
privileges and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent, and the retiring 
Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations 
hereunder. After any retiring Administrative Agent's resignation or removal 
hereunder as Administrative Agent, the provisions of this Article VII shall 
continue in effect for its benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to 
be taken by it while it was acting as Administrative Agent. 
 
                  7.09. Amendments Concerning Agency Function. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Administrative Agent shall 
not be bound by any waiver, amendment, supplement or modification of this 
Agreement or any other Loan Document which affects its duties, rights, and/or 
function hereunder or thereunder unless it shall have given its prior written 
consent thereto. 
 
                  7.10. Liability of Administrative Agent. Administrative Agent 
shall not have any liabilities or responsibilities to Borrower on account of the 
failure of any Lender to perform its obligations hereunder or to any Lender on 
account of the failure of Borrower to perform its obligations hereunder or under 
any other Loan Document. 
 
                  7.11. Transfer of Agency Function. Without the consent of 
Borrower or any Lender, Administrative Agent may at any time or from time to 
time transfer its functions as Administrative Agent hereunder to any of its 
offices wherever located in the United States, provided that Administrative 
Agent shall promptly notify Borrower and Lenders thereof. 
 
                  7.12. Non-Receipt of Funds by Administrative Agent. Unless 
Administrative Agent shall have received notice from a Lender or Borrower 
(either one 
 
                                       35 



   36 
as appropriate being the "Payor") prior to the date on which such Lender is to 
make payment hereunder to Administrative Agent of Loan proceeds or Borrower is 
to make payment to Administrative Agent, as the case may be (either such payment 
being a "Required Payment"), which notice shall be effective upon receipt, that 
the Payor will not make the Required Payment in full to Administrative Agent, 
Administrative Agent may assume that the Required Payment has been made in full 
to Administrative Agent on such date, and Administrative Agent in its sole 
discretion may, but shall not be obligated to, in reliance upon such assumption, 
make the amount thereof available to the intended recipient on such date. If and 
to the extent the Payor shall not have in fact so made the Required Payment in 
full to Administrative Agent, the recipient of such payment shall repay to 
Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such amount made available to it 
together with interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount was so 
made available by Administrative Agent until the date Administrative Agent 
recovers such amount, at the Federal Funds Rate. 
 
                  7.13. Withholding Taxes. Each Lender represents that it is 
entitled to receive any payments to be made to it hereunder without the 
withholding of any tax and will furnish to Administrative Agent and Borrower 
such forms, certifications, statements and other documents as Administrative 
Agent or Borrower may reasonably request from time to time to evidence such 
Lender's exemption from the withholding of any tax imposed by any jurisdiction 
or to enable Administrative Agent or Borrower to comply with any applicable Laws 
relating thereto. Without limiting the effect of the foregoing, if any Lender is 
not created or organized under the Laws of the United States or any state 
thereof, such Lender will furnish to Administrative Agent and Borrower Form 4224 
or Form 1001 of the Internal Revenue Service, or such other forms, 
certifications, statements or documents, duly executed and completed by such 
Lender, as evidence of such Lender's exemption from the withholding of United 
States tax with respect thereto. Administrative Agent shall not be obligated to 
make any payments hereunder to such Lender in respect of the Loan until such 
Lender shall have furnished to Administrative Agent and Borrower the requested 
form, certification, statement or document. 
 
                  7.14. Sharing of Payments among Lenders. If a Lender shall 
obtain payment of any principal of its Note or of interest thereon through the 
exercise of any right of setoff, banker's lien, counterclaim, or by any other 
means (including direct payment), and such payment results in such Lender 
receiving a greater payment than it would have been entitled to had such payment 
been paid directly to Administrative Agent for disbursement to Lenders, then 
such Lender shall promptly purchase for cash from the other Lenders 
Participations in the Loan in such amounts, and make such other adjustments from 
time to time as shall be equitable, to the end that all Lenders shall share 
ratably the benefit of such payment. To such end Lenders shall make appropriate 
adjustments among themselves (by the resale of Participations sold or otherwise) 
if such payment is rescinded or must otherwise be restored. 
 
                  7.15. Possession of Documents. Each Lender shall maintain 
possession of its own Note. Administrative Agent shall hold all other Loan 
Documents and related documents in its possession and maintain separate records 
and accounts with respect to the Loan, reflecting the interests of Lenders in 
the Loan, and shall permit Lenders and 
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their representatives access at all reasonable times to inspect such Loan 
Documents, related documents, records and accounts. 
 
                  7.16. Minimum Commitment by UBS. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of Section 8.05, UBS hereby agrees, so long as there exists no Event 
of Default and UBS remains as Administrative Agent, to maintain an aggregate 
Individual Loan Commitment under the Loan, the Building Loan and the Other Loan 
in the amount of at least $25,000,000, and further agrees to hold and not to 
participate or assign any of such amount other than an assignment to a Federal 
Reserve Bank. 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE VIII 
 
                        GENERAL CONDITIONS AND PROVISIONS 
 
                  8.01. Documentation Etc. Satisfactory. All documentation and 
proceedings deemed by Administrative Agent or Lenders' Counsel to be necessary 
or required in connection herewith and the documents relating hereto shall be 
subject to the prior approval of, and satisfactory to, both of them as to form 
and substance. In addition, the Persons responsible for the execution and 
delivery of, and signatories to, all of such documentation, shall be acceptable 
to, and subject to the approval of, Administrative Agent and Lenders' Counsel. 
Administrative Agent or Lenders' Counsel shall receive copies, certified if 
requested by either of them, of all documents which they may require in 
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
                  8.02. Administrative Agent's Determination Conclusive. 
Administrative Agent shall, at all times, be free to independently establish to 
its satisfaction and in its absolute discretion the existence or nonexistence of 
any fact or facts the existence or nonexistence of which is a condition hereof. 
 
                  8.03. Notices. Except as expressly provided otherwise, all 
notices, demands, consents, approvals and statements required or permitted 
hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been sufficiently 
given or served for all purposes when presented personally, three (3) days after 
mailing by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or one (1) day after 
delivery to a nationally recognized overnight courier service providing evidence 
of the date of delivery, addressed to a party at its address on the signature 
page hereof or of the applicable Assignment and Assumption Agreement, or at such 
other address of which a party shall have notified the party giving such notice 
in writing in accordance with the foregoing requirements. 
 
                  8.04. Amendments and Waivers. No amendment or material waiver 
of any provision of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, nor consent to 
any material departure by Borrower or any Guarantor therefrom, shall in any 
event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the party 
against whom such amendment, waiver or consent is sought to be enforced (it 
being understood, however, that the signatures of the Required Lenders and, 
solely for purposes of its acknowledgement thereof, Administrative Agent, shall 
be sufficient to bind Lenders to any such amendment, waiver or consent), and 
then such waiver or consent shall be 
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effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which 
given, provided, however, that no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in 
writing and signed by all Lenders, do any of the following: (i) reduce the 
principal of, or interest on, the Notes or any fees due hereunder or any other 
amount due hereunder or under any Loan Document; (ii) postpone any date fixed 
for any payment of principal of, or interest on, the Notes or any fees due 
hereunder or under any Loan Document; (iii) change the definition of Required 
Lenders; (iv) release any material portion of the Mortgaged Property or other 
collateral for the Loan other than in accordance with the Loan Documents; (v) 
amend this Section or any other provision requiring the consent of all Lenders; 
or (vi) release, in whole or in part, any Guarantor. Without limiting the 
foregoing, acceptance by Administrative Agent or Lenders of any sum required to 
be paid pursuant hereto or any other Loan Document, after its due date, or in an 
amount less than the sum then due, shall not constitute a waiver by 
Administrative Agent or Lenders of their right to require prompt payment when 
due of all other such sums or to declare a default or to exercise such other 
rights provided herein or in the other Loan Documents for such late or reduced 
payment. 
 
                  8.05. Assignment; Participation. Any Non-Delinquent Lender may 
at any time grant to one or more banks or other institutions (each a 
"Participant") participating interests in its Pro Rata Share of the Loan (the 
"Participations"). In the event of any such grant by a Lender of a Participation 
to a Participant, such Lender shall remain responsible for the performance of 
its obligations hereunder, and Borrower and Administrative Agent shall continue 
to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's 
rights and obligations hereunder. Any agreement pursuant to which any Lender may 
grant a Participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right 
and responsibility to enforce the obligations of Borrower hereunder and under 
any other Loan Document, including, without limitation, the right to approve any 
amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any 
other Loan Document; provided that such participation agreement may provide that 
such Lender will not agree to any modification, amendment or waiver of this 
Agreement described in clauses (i) through (vi) of Section 8.04 without the 
consent of the Participant. 
 
         Each Lender agrees to provide Borrower with notice of all 
Participations sold by such Lender. Borrower agrees to provide all assistance 
reasonably requested by a Lender to enable such Lender to sell Participations as 
aforesaid, or make assignments of its interest in the Loan as hereinafter 
provided in this Section. 
 
         A Lender may at any time assign to any bank or other institution with 
the acknowledgment of Administrative Agent and the consent of UBS and (provided 
there exists no Event of Default) Borrower, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed (such assignee, a "Consented Assignee"), or to 
one or more banks or other institutions which are subsidiaries of a Lender or of 
the parent of a Lender (each Consented Assignee or subsidiary bank or 
institution, an "Assignee") all or a proportionate part of all of its rights and 
obligations under this Agreement and its Note, and such Assignee shall assume 
rights and obligations, pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption Agreement 
executed by such Assignee and the assigning Lender, provided that, (i) 
concurrently with such assignment, the assigning Lender also assigns, and the 
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Assignee assumes, a proportionate part of the assigning Lender's rights and 
obligations under the Building Loan and the Other Loan and (ii) after giving 
effect to such assignment (and the related assignment with respect to the 
Building Loan and the Other Loan), in each case, the Assignee's aggregate 
portion of the Loan, the Building Loan and the Other Loan and, in the case of a 
partial assignment of a Lender's interest, the assigning Lender's aggregate 
portion of the Loan, the Building Loan and the Other Loan will each be equal to 
or greater than $10,000,000. Upon (i) execution and delivery of such instrument, 
(ii) payment by such Assignee to the assigning Lender of an amount equal to the 
purchase price agreed between such Lender and such Assignee and (iii) payment by 
such Assignee to Administrative Agent of a fee, for Administrative Agent's own 
account, in the amount of $2,500, on account of Administrative Agent's fees and 
expenses in connection with such assignment, such Assignee shall be a party to 
this Agreement and shall have all the rights and obligations of a Lender as set 
forth in such Assignment and Assumption Agreement, and the assigning Lender 
shall be released from its obligations hereunder to a corresponding extent, and 
no further consent or action by any party shall be required. Upon the 
consummation of any assignment pursuant to this paragraph, substitute notes, in 
the form of EXHIBIT C, shall be issued to the assigning Lender and Assignee by 
Borrower, in exchange for the return of the original Note. All such substitute 
notes shall constitute "Notes" and the obligations evidenced by such substitute 
notes shall constitute obligations secured by the Mortgage. In connection with 
Borrower's execution of substitute notes as aforesaid, Borrower shall deliver to 
Administrative Agent evidence, satisfactory to Administrative Agent, of all 
requisite partnership/corporate action to authorize Borrower's execution and 
delivery of the substitute notes and any related documents. If the Assignee is 
not incorporated under the Laws of the United States of America or a state 
thereof, it shall, prior to the first date on which interest or fees are payable 
hereunder for its account, deliver to Borrower and Administrative Agent 
certification as to exemption from deduction or withholding of any United States 
federal income taxes in accordance with Section 7.13. 
 
         Borrower, Administrative Agent and Lenders shall execute such 
modifications to the Loan Documents as shall, in the reasonable judgment of 
Administrative Agent, be necessary or desirable in connection with assignments 
in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Section. 
 
         Any Lender may at any time assign all or any portion of its rights 
under this Agreement and its Note to a Federal Reserve Bank. No such assignment 
shall release the transferor Lender from its obligations hereunder. 
 
         Borrower recognizes that in connection with a Lender's selling of 
Participations or making of assignments, any or all documentation, financial 
statements, appraisals and other data, or copies thereof, relevant to Borrower, 
Guarantor or the Loan may be exhibited to and retained by any such Participant 
or Assignee or prospective Participant or Assignee. A Lender's delivery of any 
financial statements and appraisals to any such Participant or Assignee or 
prospective Participant or Assignee shall be done on a confidential basis. 
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                  8.06. Setoff. Borrower agrees that, in addition to (and 
without limitation of) any right of setoff, bankers' lien or counterclaim 
Administrative Agent or any Lender may otherwise have, Administrative Agent and 
each Lender shall be entitled, at its option, to offset balances (general or 
special, time or demand, provisional or final) held by it for the account of 
Borrower at any of Administrative Agent's or such Lender's offices against any 
amount payable by Borrower to Administrative Agent or such Lender hereunder or 
under any other Loan Document which is not paid when due (regardless of whether 
such balances are then due to Borrower), in which case it shall promptly notify 
Borrower and (in the case of Lender) Administrative Agent thereof; provided that 
such Administrative Agent's or Lender's failure to give such notice shall not 
affect the validity thereof. Payments by Borrower hereunder or under the other 
Loan Documents shall be made without setoff or counterclaim. 
 
                  8.07. Successors and Assigns. Except as herein provided, this 
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Borrower, 
Administrative Agent and Lenders and their respective heirs, personal 
representatives, successors and assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Borrower 
may not assign, transfer or set over to another, in whole or in part, all or any 
part of its benefits, rights, duties and obligations hereunder, including, but 
not limited to, performance of and compliance with conditions hereof and the 
right to receive the proceeds of the Loan. 
 
                  8.08. Severability. The provisions hereof are intended to be 
severable. Any provisions hereof, or the application thereof to any Person or 
circumstance, which, for any reason, in whole or in part, is prohibited or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective 
to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the 
remaining provisions hereof (or the remaining portions of such provision) or the 
application thereof to any other Person or circumstance, and any such 
prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or 
render unenforceable such provision (or portion thereof) or the application 
thereof to any Person or circumstance in any other jurisdiction. 
 
                  8.09. Non-Waiver; Remedies Cumulative. No failure or delay on 
Administrative Agent's or any Lender's part in exercising any right, remedy, 
power or privilege (hereinafter in this Section, each a "Remedy") hereunder or 
under any of the other Loan Documents shall operate as a waiver of any such 
Remedy or shall be deemed to constitute Administrative Agent's or any Lender's 
acquiescence in any default by Borrower or Guarantor under any of said 
documents. A waiver by Administrative Agent or any Lender of any Remedy 
hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents on any one occasion shall not 
be construed as a bar to any other or future exercise thereof or of any other 
Remedy. The Remedies provided in said documents are cumulative, may be exercised 
singly or concurrently and are not exclusive of any Remedies provided therein or 
by law. 
 
                  8.10. Certain Waivers. Borrower hereby irrevocably and 
unconditionally waives (i) promptness and diligence; (ii) notice of any actions 
taken by Administrative Agent or any Lender hereunder or under any other Loan 
Document or any other agreement or instrument relating thereto except to the 
extent otherwise provided 
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herein, (iii) all other notices, demands and protests, and all other formalities 
of every kind in connection with the enforcement of Borrower's obligations 
hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, the omission of or delay in which, 
but for the provisions of this Section, might constitute grounds for relieving 
Borrower of any of its obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, 
(iv) any requirement that Administrative Agent or any Lender protect, secure, 
perfect or insure any lien on any collateral for the Loan or exhaust any right 
or take any action against Borrower, Guarantor or any other Person or against 
any collateral for the Loan, (v) any right or claim of right to cause a 
marshalling of Borrower's assets and (vi) all rights of subrogation or 
contribution, whether arising by contract or operation of law or otherwise by 
reason of payment by Borrower pursuant hereto or to the other Loan Documents 
except to the extent expressly prohibited by applicable Law. EXCEPT TO THE 
EXTENT EXPRESSLY PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW, BORROWER FURTHER HEREBY 
IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, IN CONNECTION WITH ANY SUIT, ACTION OR 
PROCEEDING BROUGHT BY OR ON BEHALF OF ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT OR LENDERS WITH 
RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE NOTES OR OTHERWISE IN RESPECT OF THE LOAN, ANY 
AND EVERY RIGHT BORROWER MAY HAVE TO (W) INJUNCTIVE RELIEF, (X) A TRIAL BY JURY, 
(Y) INTERPOSE ANY COUNTERCLAIM THEREIN, OTHER THAN A COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIM, 
AND (Z) HAVE THE SAME CONSOLIDATED WITH ANY OTHER OR SEPARATE SUIT, ACTION OR 
PROCEEDING. NOTHING CONTAINED IN THE IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING SENTENCE SHALL 
PREVENT OR PROHIBIT BORROWER FROM INSTITUTING OR MAINTAINING A SEPARATE ACTION 
AGAINST ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT OR LENDERS WITH RESPECT TO ANY ASSERTED CLAIM. 
 
                  8.11. Expenses; Indemnification. Borrower covenants and agrees 
to pay all costs, expenses and charges (including, without limitation, all fees 
and charges of engineers, appraisers, any environmental consultant of Lender and 
Lenders' Counsel) incurred by Administrative Agent or any Lender in connection 
with (i) the preparation for and consummation of the transactions contemplated 
hereby or for the performance hereof and of the other Loan Documents, and for 
any services which may be required in addition to those normally and reasonably 
contemplated hereby and (ii) the enforcement hereof or of any or all of the 
other Loan Documents; provided, however, that Borrower shall not be responsible 
for (1) the fees and expenses of legal counsel for Lenders other than UBS and 
(2) costs, expenses and charges incurred by Administrative Agent and Lenders in 
connection with the administration or syndication of the Loan (other than any 
administration fee payable to Administrative Agent and the reasonable fees and 
expenses of Lenders' Counsel and UBS's environmental consultant in connection 
with the administration of the Loan, but with respect to Lenders' Counsel's fee 
in connection with syndication not unless the fees (not to exceed $25,000) 
relate to environmental matters). In connection with the foregoing, Lenders 
agree, to the extent practicable, to appoint a single counsel and local counsel, 
selected by Administrative Agent, to act on behalf of all Lenders in connection 
with the enforcement of the Loan Documents. If Borrower fails to pay promptly 
any costs, charges or expense required to be paid by it as aforesaid, and 
Administrative Agent or any Lender pays such costs, charges or expenses, 
Borrower shall reimburse Administrative Agent or such Lender, as appropriate, on 
demand for the 
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amounts so paid, together with interest thereon at the Default Rate. Borrower 
further agrees to indemnify Administrative Agent and each Lender and their 
respective directors, officers, employees and agents from, and hold each of them 
harmless against, (x) any and all losses arising out of or by reason of any 
investigation or litigation or other proceedings (including any threatened 
investigation or litigation or other proceedings) relating to any actual or 
proposed use by Borrower of the proceeds of the Loan, including, without 
limitation, the fees and disbursements of counsel incurred in connection with 
any such investigation, litigation or other proceedings and (y) any and all 
claims, actions, suits, proceedings, costs, expenses, losses, damages and 
liabilities of any kind, including in tort, penalties and interest, arising out 
or by reason of any matter relating, directly or indirectly, to the Mortgage or 
the ownership, leasing, condition, development, construction, sale, rental or 
financing of the Premises or Improvements or any part thereof (but excluding any 
such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses incurred solely by reason 
of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the party to be indemnified). 
The obligations of Borrower under this Section shall survive the repayment of 
all amounts due under or in connection with any of the Loan Documents and the 
termination of the Loan. 
 
                  8.12. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any 
number of counterparts, all of which taken together shall constitute one and the 
same instrument, and any party hereto may execute this Agreement by signing any 
such counterpart. 
 
                  8.13.    [INTENTIONALLY DELETED]. 
 
                  8.14. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement and the 
rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall in all respects be 
governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the Laws of the 
State of New York (without giving effect to New York's principles of conflicts 
of law). Borrower, Administrative Agent and each Lender hereby irrevocably 
submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any New York State or Federal court 
sitting in The City of New York (or any county in New York State where any 
portion of the Mortgaged Property is located) over any suit, action or 
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, and Borrower hereby 
agrees and consents that, in addition to any methods of service of process 
provided for under applicable law, all service of process in any such suit, 
action or proceeding in any New York State or Federal court sitting in The City 
of New York (or such other county in New York State) may be made by certified or 
registered mail, return receipt requested, directed to Borrower at the address 
indicated on the cover page hereof, and service so made shall be complete five 
(5) days after the same shall have been so mailed. 
 
                  8.15. Integration. The Loan Documents constitute the entire 
agreement among Administrative Agent, Borrower and Lenders relating to the 
transactions contemplated thereby (except with respect to agreements among 
Lenders or with Administrative Agent relating solely to compensation, 
consideration and the syndication of the Loan) and supersede any prior oral or 
written statements or agreements with respect to such transactions. 
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                  8.16. Environmental Agreement. Notwithstanding any provision 
of this Agreement, in the event of a conflict between this Agreement and the 
Environmental Agreement, the Environmental Agreement shall be controlling. 
 
                  8.17. Year 2000. Borrower represents, warrants and covenants 
that it and Guarantor has taken and shall take all action available to each of 
them to assure that its data processing and information technology systems are 
capable of effectively processing data and information, including dates on and 
after January 1, 2000, and shall not cease to perform, or provide, or cause any 
software and/or system which is material to its operations or any interface 
therewith to provide, invalid or incorrect results as a result of date 
functionality and/or data, or otherwise experience any degradation of 
performance or functionality arising from, relating to or including date 
functionality and/or data which represents or references different centuries or 
more than one century or leap years, and that all such systems shall effectively 
and accurately manage and manipulate data derived from, involving or relating in 
any way to dates (including single century formulas and multi-century or leap 
year formulas), and will not cause an abnormally ending scenario within such 
systems or in any software and/or system with which such systems interface, or 
generate incorrect values or invalid results involving such dates. At the 
request of Administrative Agent, Borrower shall provide Administrative Agent 
with reasonably acceptable assurance of Borrower's and Guarantor's year 2000 
capability. 
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         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this 
Agreement as of the day and year first above written, the execution hereof by 
Borrower constituting (a) a certification by the party or parties executing on 
its behalf that the representations and warranties made in Article V are true 
and correct as of the date hereof and that each of them duly holds and is 
incumbent in the position indicated under his or her name and (b) the 
undertaking of said party or parties that each Requisition, whether or not 
personally made by any or all of them, shall constitute the personal affirmation 
on the part of each of them that at the time thereof said representations and 
warranties are true and correct. 
 
                                        ALEXANDER'S KINGS PLAZA 
                                          CENTER, INC., a Delaware corporation 
 
 
                                        By    /s/  Brian Kurtz 
                                           ------------------------------- 
                                             Name: Brian Kurtz 
                                             Title: Secretary and Treasurer 
 
 
                                        KINGS PLAZA CORP., 
                                          a Delaware corporation 
 
 
                                        By    /s/  Brian Kurtz 
                                           ------------------------------- 
                                             Name: Brian Kurtz 
                                             Title: Secretary and Treasurer 
 
 
                                        ALEXANDER'S DEPARTMENT STORES 
                                          OF BROOKLYN, INC., 
                                          a New York corporation 
 
 
                                        By    /s/  Brian Kurtz 
                                           ------------------------------- 
                                             Name: Brian Kurtz 
                                             Title: Secretary and Treasurer 
 
 
                                        Address for notices: 
                                        c/o Vornado Realty Trust 
                                        Park 80 West, Plaza II 
                                        Saddle Brook, New Jersey 07663 
                                        Attention:  Steven Roth & Joseph Macnow 
                                        Telephone:  (201) 587-1000 
                                        Telecopy:   (201) 587-0600 
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                                        UNION BANK OF SWITZERLAND 
                                          (New York Branch), 
                                          as Lender and Administrative Agent 
 
 
                                        By   /s/  HOWARD MARGOLIS 
                                           ------------------------------------- 
                                             Name: HOWARD MARGOLIS 
                                             Title: VICE PRESIDENT, REAL ESTATE  
                                                    FINANCE 
 
 
                                        By   /s/  DAVID M. GOLDMAN 
                                           ------------------------------------- 
                                             Name: DAVID M. GOLDMAN 
                                             Title: ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENT 
 
                                        Address for notices, Administrative 
                                         Agent's Office and 
                                        Applicable Lending Office: 
                                        299 Park Avenue, 38th Floor 
                                        New York, New York 10171-0026 
                                        Attention: Real Estate Finance Group 
                                        Telephone:  (212) 821-3872 
                                        Telecopy:   (212) 821-3943 
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THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE 
COMPANY'S UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 1998 
AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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